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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Executive Directors hereby present thefr report to the sharcholders, as follows:
Review of the Business

Clondatkin Group Holdings B.V. is the parent company of Clondalkin Industries BV, (“the Company™) which
together with its subsidiaries (“the Group™) is an international producer of flexible and specialist packaging preducts, with
operations in Europe and North America.

The Group manufactures and supplies packaging products to a diversified customier base in the food and beverage,
pharmacentical and healtheare, consumer products, industirizl, agricultural and horticultural and the services and distribution
sectors. These packaging products are produced by converting a wide variety of raw materials including pelymer resins,
paper, paperboard and aluminium foll by a range of manufacturing processes including extrusion, laminating, lacquering,
metalizing, printing, slitting and die cutting.

It the year ended 31 December, 2009, the average number of employees was 4,319
We divide our businesses into two reporting segments; namely fexible packaging and specialist packaging,

The flexible packaging businesses, which represented 72.1% of 2009 sales (2008 72.2%), manufhcture products
including lids and seals for food and beverage containers, tobacco packaging products, flower sleeves, agricultural produce
bags, wraps, paper bags and sacks, and other similar preducts designed for the hospital and healtheare markets, the food and
delicatessen markets and the services and janitorial markets,

The specialist packaging businesses, which represented 27.9% of 2009 sales {2008: 27.8%), manufacture products
inctuding folding cartons, labels and leaflets, inserts and outserts, direct mail and commercial print materials for the
pharmaceutical and healtheare, cosmetics, hospital care, fast moving consumer goods and industrial markets.

Clendalkin Group Holdings B.V. is the parent company of the Company. WP Flexpack Holdings S.ar.l is the
majority sharehalder in Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V ., holding approximately 85.2% of the issued ordinary share capital,
equivalent 1o 79.2% of the fully diluted ordinary share capital in Clondaikin Group Holdings B.V. taking info account
options and rights over shares reserved for future issuance to management. Clondalkin management own approximately
14.8% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Clondalkin Group Hotdings B.V. which increases to 20.8% subject to the
rights and options over ordinary share capital in Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V. being taken up by management. The
majority shareholders in WP Flexpeck Holdings S.a ., are Warburg Pincus Private Equity VI L.P. and Warburp Pinucs
International Partners L.P. which are both investment funds incorporated by Warburg Pincus.

Warburg Pincus is a leading global private equity firm. Founded in 1966, Warburg Pincus has raised 12 private equity
funds which have invested more than $35 billion in more than 600 companies in over 30 countries. The firm invests in a
range of sectors including consumer and industrial, energy, financial services, healthcare, real estate, and technology, media
and telecommunications and has an active portfolio of more than 110 companies.

Results for the year ended 31 December, 2009

Introduction and overview

In our opinion, the profit from operations of €47.3 million (2008 €61.0 million} on sales of €789.9 million (2008:
€877.4 million} for the year ended 31 December, 2009 is a very satisfactory result in extremely challenging economic
conditions, As in prior years, the Group benefited from its broad diversification of activities in the fiexible and specialist
packaging markets. Cash flow from operations was €82.9 million (2008; €96.5 million) for the year ended 31 December,
2009. At 31 December, 2009 our cash balances were €112.0 million (2008: £95.9 million).

Our annual cash generated from operations and significant cash balances combined with the fact that we have no near
term scheduled debt repayments give us considerable financial flexibility in managing our businesses and their continued
development in an orderly way.

Acquisitions

Effective 1 July, 2009, the Group acquired the business of Cleveland Plastic Films (“Cleveland™). Cleveland, based in
Ohio, United States of America, manufactures customised flexible packaging films for industrial applications. The
aequisition consideration before expenses to acquire Cleveland on a debt free basis was €3.7 million. Cleveland's business
complements our existing North American plastics packaging businesses.

Effective 11 December, 2009, the Group acquired the business of Lehigh Press (“Lehigh™), based in Puerlo Rico, for
the consideration before expenses of €3.7 million. Lehigh manufactures labels, inserts, outserts and other packaging
products, mainly for the pharmaceutical market. This acquisition complements our existing pharmacentical packaging
businesses it Puerto Rico and in North America,

The results of these businesses are included in the financial statements from their effective acquisition dates.

=y




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Revenue uand profit from operations for the year ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the year ended 31 December,
2008

Our revenue decreased by €87.5 million, or by 10.0%, from €877.4 million in the year ended 31 December, 2008 to
€789.9 million in the year ended 31 December, 2009, reflecting a decrease in flexible packaging and specialist packaging
revenues of €64.0 million and €23.5 million respeetively,

Excluding the profit on disposal of investments of €0.7 million recorded in the year ended 31 Deceraber, 2008, as
there was na such corresponding profit in the year ended 31 December, 2009, our profit from operations decreased by €12.8
million reflecting the following main #ems:

& Qur flexible packaging profit from operations decreased by €3.0 million and our specialist packaging profit from
operations decreased by €6.8 million;

e (ur restructuring costs increased by €2,8 million,
Flexible Packaging revenue and profit front operstions

Flexitle packaging revenue decreased by €64.0 million, or by 10.1%, from €633.5 million in the year ended 3!
December, 2008 to €369.5 million in the vear ended 31 BPecember, 2009, The decrease comprises the following main ilems:

e Revenue in our plastic packaging businesses decreased by €55.7 million reflecting lower raw material costs, which
reduced revenue by approximately €45.0 million, and lower volumes, down approximately 4% compared to the
prior year; and

o Rewvenue in our foils and laminates flexible packaging businesses decreased by €115 million. This deerease is
attributable both to lower raw material costs prices and volumes down 4% compared to the prior year.

e The stronger 1.5, doilar translation rates, partially offset by weaker sterling transiation rates, against the Euro for
the year ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the corresponding exchange rates used for the year ended 31
December, 2008 caused revenue to increase by €3.2 miliion.

Profit from operations reported by our flexible packaging businesses decreased by €3,0 million, ar by 6.6%, from
€45.3 million in the year ended 31 December, 2008 to €42.3 million in the year ended 31 December, 2009. The decrease
comprises the following main items:

e Our foils and Iaminates businesses reported €2.8 million reduced profit from operations, due to unever month fo
month demand conditions primarily in the first haif of 2009; and

s Our plastic packaging businesses reported €0.4 million reduced profit from operations due to reduced activity
primariiy in the first half of 2009. This has been partiaily offset by an improved mix following recent investments
with the benefits reflected in the second half of 2009,

o The stronger U.S. dollar translation rates, partly offset by weaker sterling translation rates, against the Euro for the
year ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the corresponding exchange rates used for the year ended 31
December, 2008 caused our profit from operations to merease by €0.2 miliion,

Specialist Packaging revenuoe and profit from eperntions

Specialist packaging revenue decreased by €23.3 million, or by 9.6%, from €243.9 million in the year ended 31
December, 2008 s0 €220.4 million in the year ended 31 December, 2009, The decrease comprises the following main items:

o Revenue in our specialist packaging businesses decreased by €21.6 million, reflecting volume decreases of
approximately 9% due to weak demand conditions. The weak demand conditions have been more pronounced in
our Buropean higher value added huxury and branded consumer businesses, Our North American pharmaceutical
husinesses reported improving volumes and results as the year progressed; and

o Weaker sterling translation rates, partially offset by stronger U S, dollar translation rates, against the BEuro for the
vear ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the corresponding exchange rates wsed for the year ended 31
December, 2008 caused revenue 1o decrease by €1.9 miilion.

Profit from operations reported by our specialist packaging businesses reduced by €6.8 million, or by 31,.8%, from
€214 million in the vear ended 31 December, 2008 to €14.6 million in the year ended 31 December, 2009, The decrease
comprises the following main iterms:




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Revenue and profit from operations for the vear ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the year ended 31 December,
08 (continued)

Specialist Packaging revenue and profif from operations (confinued)

e Our Buropean specialist packaging businesses reporied €6.2 million reduced profit for the vear reflecting weaker
demand conditions. These businesses supply info the higher value-added luxury and branded consumer products
markets. This decrease occurred mainly in the first half of 2009; and

s Our North American specialist packaging businesses reported €0.7 million reduced profit from operations
reflecting the weak demand conditions at the start of the year. These businesses recovered well as the year
progressed, with the final quarter profit from operations up €1.4 mitlion on the prior year corresponding quarter.

& The stronger U.S. dollar translation rates, partly offset by weaker sterling translation rates, against the Euro for the
year ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the corresponding exchange rates used for the year ended 3%
December, 2008 caused our profit from operations to increase by €0.1 milion,

Rationalisation and development investments

In the year ended 31 December, 2009, we implemented rationalisation and development investments to improve our
reventie and cost alignments, to divest from lower value added businesses and to invest in higher value added businesses.

We incurred restructuring costs of €5.1 million in the year ended 31 December, 2009 compared $o €2.2 million in the
year ended 31 December, 2008, The restructuring costs mainly relate 10 employment reductions of approximately 7% in the
yedar ended 31 December, 2009 compared to the prior year and to the consolidation of production siles to maximise asset
utilisation,

Investments in existing operations to add new technologies and 1o upgrade existing assets were approximately €16.9
million in the year ended 31 December, 2009, compared to €29.0 million in the year ended 31 December, 2008, Our
operations are well invested in modern technologies.

Asset disposals

Proceeds from surplus asset disposals including properties were approximately €7.0 million in 2009 compared to €2.7
milfion in 2008.

Cuash balances and cash ftow

At 31 December, 2009 our cash balances were €112.0 million (2008: €95.9 million). The Group has no scheduled
debt repayments until December 2013,

Cash gengrated from operations was €82.8 million (2008; €95.7 million) for the year ended 31 December, 2009, Qur
strong cash generation capability, which has long been the hall mark of our business performance, is sufficient to support our
debt servicing obligations and to fund the continuing development of the Group’s businesses.

The Group has the financial resources and capability to respond to opportunities and developments as they present in
2014,
Principal risks and uncertainties

Under Dutch and Evropean regulations, the Company and its subsidiarics are required 1o describe the potential
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company and its subsidiaries. These are:

o Restrictions in our debt instruments may Hmit our financial flexibility in certain circumstances, inciuding placing
limits on the way we operate our businesses and the way we complete and integrate new acquisitions;

o Our acquisition and development strategies may not be successful;

o Ifwe are unable Lo pass on increases in raw material costs 10 our customers on a timely basis, our profit margins will
decrease;

»  Competitton from products with lower cost of production could decrease our revenue and our profit from
aperations;

s Jfthe markets in which we operate face unfavourable economic conditions, our profitability and cash flow may
decrease;




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Frincipal risls and uncertainties (confinued)
s Production disruptions could cause us 1o lose customers and revenue;
e If'we arc unable to stay abreast of changing technology in cur industry, our profits may decline;
e Wo are exposed to currency rate and fnterest rate fluctuations; and

s [fwe were to experience environmental problems at our production sites, if existing environmental laws were
amended or if new environmental laws were enacted, our operations and performance could be affected,

Our businesses are experienced in managing these risks suceessfidly,

Financial risk management

The principal financial instruments used to fund our businesses comprise floating rate notes, fixed rate nofes,
sharchotders’ Joans and callable bank loans and our available cash balances. Other financial instruments such as trade
receivables, trade payables, accruals and provisions also arise from our day to day trading activities,

We enfer into foreign currency forward contracts fo manage our currency exchange rate exposures. The instrumenis
purchased are primarity denominated in the currencies of the principal markets we operate in.

We also enter into interest rate hedging arrangements to manage our exposure to fluctuating interest rates through the
use of derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps.

Details of the Group’s hedging arrangements and financial risk exposures are described in the financial statements at
note 17.

Future development of the Clondalkin business

The Executive Directors with the support of the shareholders, management and employees plan to continue the
growth policy by organic development through investment in existing operations and by making selective acquisitions of
businesses that improve our flexible and specialist packaging activities and enhance the product offerings supplied to our
customers,

Product Development

The Group has developed leading positions in a number of niche markets through investment in research and
development and modern technologies. We will continue to invest in research and development and plan to develop new
packaging products and appiications to enhance our product and service offering to our existing customers and 1o new
customers,

Employment

Our average employment decreased from 4,584 employees in the year ended 31 December, 2008 to 4,433 employees
in the year ended 31 December, 2009 asswming all acquired companies were acguired at the beginning of the year; a decrease
of 151 employees. Businesses we acquired during 2609 increased the average employment by approximately 155 employees.
Whereas we were pleased o expand employment in various businesses where activity and profitable development
opportunitics permisted this, we expericnced a net reduction of 306 emiplovees mainly in existing businesses where we
experienced reduced activity and reduced profitability due to the difficult economic conditions presenting in the latter half of
2008 and in 2009,

To develop our businesses and thereby achieve sustainable employment levels, our objective s to align our resources
and capacity configurations to market requirements. We expect that responding to market requirements will continue to
impact on our employment levels, prompting both increases and decreases from time to time.

It is through our employees that we distinguish our products and services in the market place. We have a lot of
confidence in the ingenuity and resourcefulness of cur employees to provide well differentiated products and services which
the market requires and is willing to pay a fair price for. We are comumitted to continued investment in our people, through
training and development programs, fo encourage their professional and personal development.

We sincerely thank all our employees for their commitment and skilful application during 2009,




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Statements by the Execufive Directors
We have prepared the financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRS™) as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civii Code,

As required by section 5:25¢ (2) (c) of the Dutch Act on financial supervision the Executive Directors confirm that to
the best of our knowledge:

= the financial statements give a trae and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the
Company and its undertakings as included in the consolidated financial statoments; and

e the Report of the Executive Direclors includes a fair review of the position at the balance sheet date, the course of
affairs during the financial year then ended of the Company and its undertakings as included in the consolidate
financial statements, together with a deseription of the principal risks that the Company faces.

For and on behalf of the Executive Directors on 16 April, 2010:

Colman O"Neill

Jim Farrell




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December, 2609

Year ended Year ended

31 December, 31 Pecember,

2009 2008

Notes €000 €000

REVEIIUL. 1 ety et st eac s rs s e sas e e e besere et ve e san 3 789,885 877,420

COSE 0T SAI5.. .ottt s {658,008} (732,978)
Gross profit.. 131,787 144,442

D ST I DU IO COBIS ittt e e e sttt bec e e v e et e s b o ba e {33,720} (34,7923

AdMiniSIrative CXPEASES i et ir st snsas resnest s s e {46,950) (47,415
Prafit on disposal of property, plant and equipment........o.o e 1,222 305
Profit on sale of vestment. ... 1 - 699
Restructuring costs. 4 {5,065) (2,248)
Profit from operations..... o ciiorcimim e 3 47,274 61,0604
FINBICE COSIEurtrirerrorties it e iae e aves bt s e s besesms s sersears e cre e s 5 {54,381) (58,456
(Loss) / profit before income tax... 6 (7,107 2,548
Income tax credit / (EXPENSE. i e e ssssarses e 8 1,826 {769

(Loss) / profit for the year from continuing operations atiributable

10 CQUILY ROTAEIS..ovvic v e i et s (5,281 1,779

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE
For the year ended 31 December, 2009

Year ended
31 December,

Year ended
31 December,

2009 2008
Notes €000 €000
{Loss) / profit for the vear firom continuing operations......oo . (5,281) 1779
ftemss of income and expense recognised directly within equity
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations. ............. iz 1,304 (9,440)
Movement i value of cash flow hedges..o e 22 (350} (5.670)
Dreferred tax credit on cash flow hedges...oovinccreiiina 22 142 1,446
Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit pension plans............ 22 2,235 (7,499)
Deferred tax (charge) / credit on defined benefit pensions. 22 {40y 782
Net income / (expense) recognised directly within equity....ce... 3,085 (20,381)
Total recognised expense for the year.. . (2,196) {18,602)

The Notes on pages 12 to 48 form part of these financial statements.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 Decomber, 2009

Non-current assets
Goodwill. e
Property, plant and equipmient

B (0 R e LT S USROS

Current assels
HEVENLOTIES. ..ottt eere et e ern e ea st st e bea st erets st et ees e et ensessstasee
Trade and other receivables. ..o e

Cash and cash equivalents........

Totalassets.....ooo e
Equity

Catled up share capital. ... oo s s
OUNEE FESEIVES 0. vvirvrereris et ersremees e eb et etsa s e
Retained earnings........... e a e st ettt b b st een

Fotal equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings.

SHArehOlders” TOANS. v vvver e verr s v s rrssarsrrmresressssness sasrrnsssrsnnvrvnss

Other financial Habilities.. oo e
Interest due on sharcholders” [oans........cooevveeveeenn, DO

Retirement benefit obligations. ... s
Deferred tax liabilities

Current lHabilities

Interest bearing loans and BOrTOWings. ..o
Other financial Habilities.....o........
Interest due on bank loans and other borrowings.. ..o

Trade and other pavables.,
Current tax HabiliHes. ..ot e e e

Total Habilities. ..o

Tatal equity and Habilities................. s JUUT

The Notes on pages 12 to 48 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes

16
16

31
13

16

31 December,

31 Deeember,

2009 2008
€000 €000
537,318 534,514
194,298 208,917
20,684 11,803
752,300 755,234
74,847 78,481
90,773 98,841
111,989 95,927
277,600 273.249
1,029,909 1,028,443
7,123 7.123
(33.741) (36,826)
46,928 52,209
20,310 32,506
562,739 563,575
174,985 175,055
1,795 2,142
86,737 68,945
12,181 14,526
24,484 21,631
862,021 845,874
. 9,321
4,333 3,528
4814 5,163
133,830 138,279
3,701 3.812
136,678 160,103
1,009,599 1,005,977
1,029,909 1,028,483




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December, 2009

Currency
Ordinary  Retained  translation Hedge Actuarial

shares  carnings reserve reserve reserve Total

€000 €000 €060 €060 [ HHE €000
At ¥ January, 2008 7.123 50,430 (13,670% “ (775) 41,108
Profit for the year.....ccooie - 1,779 - . . 1,779
Currency Transiation......... - . (9,440) - - 9,440
Movement in value of cash flow - - - {5,670 - {3,670
Deferred tax credit on cash flow - - - |,446 - 1,446
REEes. s
Actuarial losses on defined benefit - . " “ {7,499 (749N
PERSION Plath. . e
Dreferred tax credit on defined - - - - 782 782
benefit pension plans....o.
At 31 December, 2008, 7,123 52,209 (25,110) (4,224) (7.492) 22,506
Loss for the year........ “ {5,281} - . - {5,281
Curreney Translation........corn. - - 1,304 - - 1,304
Movement in value of cash {low - - - (356) - {336)
hedges.
Deferred tax credit on cash flow - - - 142 - 142
Actuarial gains on defined benefit - - - - 2,235 2,235
pension plass.........
Deferred 1ax charge on defined . “ - - (40) {4
benefit pension plans........coeee
At 31 December, 2009, 7,123 46,928 (23,8063 (4,638) (5,297} 20310

The Notes on pages 12 to 48 form part of these financial statements.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December, 2009

Cash fows from operating activities

(Loss}/ profit for the year from continuing operations......

Income iax (credit) / expense recognised in income statement..........
Finarce costs recognised i INCOME SICMENT vvvre e recererverinnrrerns
Restructuring costs charge recognised in income statement. ...
Restructuring costs paid.........

Profit on disposal of property, plant, equipment and investments.....
DIEPrECialiON. ... ireees e eecmreiet ettt n et eer e
Deerease In iNVENTOTIES. ..o e st s b cresies s ecs
Decrease in trade and other receivables............... et e

Decrease in trade and other payables........

Cash generated from operations,
Income taxation PRI, ... e e

Net cash generated from operating actvities..c. o

Cash flows from investing activitics
THEEIESE TECRIVEL, . evcve i cviri i e corre st nrm s s
Purchase of property, plant and equipment. ... vvrconroncon

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant, equipment and

Subsidiaries acquIred. ... s

Net cash used i MVestng aCVINCS....ovvec i

Cash flows from financing activities
hnterest paid
Repayment of shareholder J0an8. e

Proceeds fRom invesiors. i
PAyMent 10 BBVETS.. .ot ecoeinsiseinseriin sees e ereieceeseensensasieseeseaesnesns
{(Repayment of) / praceeds from bank 10ans......ooocim i
Payment of finance fees,
Net cash used in financing setivities. ..o e

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of Vear.......voerecmen oo
Effects of exchange rafe changes. ocecnies e
Cash and cash eguivalents at end of year. ..o

The Notes on pages E2 to 48 form part of these financial statements,

Year ended
31 Becember,

Year ended
31 December,

2009 2008
Naotes €000 €000
(5.281) 1,779
(1,826) 769
54,381 58,456
5,065 2,248
(3.967) (1811}
{1,222) (1,004
28,503 27,774
5,228 11,840
9,885 9,207
(7,898} (12,799
82,868 96,459
(4,529} (6,395)
78,339 50,064
491 1,459
(16,931) {29,001)
7,042 2,731
2 (9,404) (29,635)
(18,802) (54,446)
(34,342) (40,426)
(69) (769)
- 1,040
96 (1,842)
(9,321) 9,321
. 212)
(43.828) (32,888)
24 15,709 2,730
95,927 94,643
25 353 (1,446)
111,989 95,927




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE COXNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Clondalkin Group Hoidings B.V. is the parent company of Clondalkin Industries B.V. (*the Company”} which together with its
subsidiaries (“the Group™) is an international producer of flexible and specialist packaging products, with operations in Europe
and North America.

The Company, which has its address and statutory seat at Raadhuisstraat 15, 1016 DB Amsterdam, the Netherlands is a holding
company of the Group,

Clondalkin Group Holdings 3.V, was incorporated on 12 January, 2004 and is the parent company of Clondalkin Industries
B.V., which is the parent company of Clondalkin Acquisition B.V.. These three companies, all Duteh incorporated, were formed
to facilitate Clondalkin Acquisition B.V.’s acquisition of all the shares in Clondalkin Group Holdings Limited. The acquisition
of Clondaikin Group Holdings Limited was comipleted effective 28 February, 2004 and its results have been consolidated from
that date.

After making enquiries, the Executive Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable futare. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standurds

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations applied for the first time in the year ended 31 December, 2009,
The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a material effect on the finmcial statements.

IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Finaneial Statements;

iFRS 8 Operating Segments;

IFRS 7 {Amendments) Financial Instraments: Disclosures;
1AS 37 {Revised) Financial Insiruments: Presentation:

1AS 23 {Revised) Borrowing Costs;

{FRS 2 {Revised) Share Based Payment;

{FRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and [AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements;

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmies;

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; and
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.

O S s s s s Dt

At the date these financial statements were approved by the Executive Directors, the following Standards and Interpresations
which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

o 1AS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 July, 2009},

o IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates {effective for accounting periods beginning on or afier | Tuly, 2009),

o IAS 39 (Amendments) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (effective for aceounting periods
beginning on or after { July, 2009);

o IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations (effective for accounting pertods beginning on or afier | July, 2009);

Amendment to TAS 7 Statement of Cash flows (effective for accounting periods beginning on or afler | January, 2010}

o IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non cash assets to Owners {effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July,
2009);

o IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July, 2009,

o 1AS 17 Leases (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January, 2010).

53

The Executive Directors anticipate that as of the date of approving these financial statements, the adoption of these Standards
and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements.
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
2. Accounting policies

Basis of acconnting

These consolidated finaneial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard
{“IFRE™) as adopted by the Evropean Union.

The financial statements are prepared under the historic cost convention other than certain financial instruments which are
carried at fair vatue, The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below,

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all its subsidiasies made up to 31 Decernber,
2009, Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to conform the accounting policies
used by all subsidiaries to those used by the Group.

The results of companies acquired during the year are dealt with in the income statement from the date on which control over
the operating and financial decisions is achieved and they cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to a third party. Contrel exists when the Group has the power directly or indirectly to govern the financial and
operaling policies of an eatity so as fo obtain cconomic benefits from its activitics.

Intercompany transactions and balances and vnrealised profits on intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in & business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired. Goodwill 15 measured
as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling inferests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previousty held equity interest in the acquireee (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. H, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
aceuiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair vatue of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acguiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in the income statement as a bargain purchase gain,

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units or a group of cash generating units expected to benefit from the
synergics of the combination. Cash-generating units or group of cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment arnually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit or group of cash generating units is less than its carrying amount, the impairment foss is
aliocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries 1s accounted for using the purchase method. The cest of acquisition {s measured af the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
isstted by the Group in exchange for control of the acquires, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination,

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent fabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non Current Asscts held for sale and discontinued operations which are recognised at fair
value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

The Group measures revenue at fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar aliowances. Revenue is derived from product sales to customers and for services
rendered on these products net of value added and sales tax. The Group recognises revenue when all of the following criteria
are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred; vendor's fee is fixed or determinable and
revenue collectton can be reasonably assured.

Profit on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment

Cains and Josses arising from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are included in the income statement and measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the disposed asset,

-13-




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

TS (CONTINUED)
2. Accounting pelicies (continued}

Translation of foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Euro, Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are transiated into Euro at the
rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transaclion,

Assets and liabilitics denominated in forcign currencies are translated into Euro at the balance sheet date at the following rates:

o Maonetary assets and liabilities are transiated at the balanee sheet date rates of exchange;

o Non-monetary assets and liabilitics are translated at the rates prevailing at the historic fransaction date; and

o The results of forcign subsidiaries are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. The
difference between the results reported a1 the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction and the
balanee sheet date exchange rates are presented in the currency transtation reserve. Such transiation differences are
recognised as income or expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of,

Exchange differences arising from the retyanslation of the opening net investments in foreign subsidiaries are dealt with
through reserves, The Group has denominated part of its borrowings in U.S. dollars to provide a hedge against the Group’s
investment in U.8. dollar denominated businesses. Exchange gains or losses on foreign currency borrowings and long term
imtercompany loans used to Ainance or provide a hedge against the Group’s equity investments in foreign subsidiaries are offset
against reserves to the extent of the exchange differences arising on the net investments, All other translation differences are
mecluded in amiving at trading profit,

Fraofit from operatfions

Profit from operations is caleulated by the Group as profit before tax excluding finance costs.

Segmental Reporting

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regudarly reviewed
by the Executive Directors, in their capacity as the chief operating decision making authority, to allocate resourees to the
segments and to assess their performance,

We divide our bustnesses into two segments; namely flexibie packaging and specialist packaging. Our flexible packaging
businesses include our plastic and polymer based businesses, our foils and Jaminate businesses and our paper packaging
businesses. Our specialist packaging businesses include our folding cartons, labels, leaflets and inserts and printing businesses,

Praperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost fess accumulated depreciation and any accursulated impairment losses. Land is
not depreciated. Depreciation is provided at rates caleulated to write-off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equiprient, otlier than land, by equal annual instalments tangible assets, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Frechold and long leasehold buildings 50 years

Short leasehold buildings Period of lease
Plant and machinery 5= 10 years
Fixtures angl fittings {5 years

Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs are recognised when the Group tncurs non trading costs fo effect significant reorganisation and restructuring
throughous the businesses of the Group. Restructuring costs include costs of significant emiployee headeount reductions, plant
closures and other fundamental organisation changes.

“inance and Borrowing costs

Costs arising on the issue of fixed term debt are recognised and amortised at a constant rate over the period of the debt.
Finance costs are netted against debt falling due after more than one year in the balance sheet, The unamortised fees refating to
any debt repaid are written off immediately to the income statentent. Borrowing costs on floating rafe notes, fixed rate notes
and bank and other loans are expensed in the peried in which they are incurred.

<14
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
2, Accounting policies (continned)

Retivement henefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as expenses as the contributions fall due,

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing besefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with
actuarial vatuations carried out at each balance sheet date. The Group has selected the option available within International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 Employec Benefits for immediate recognition of all actuarial gains and losses outside of the
income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the peried in which they occur in the Statement of Recognised Income and
Expense. Past service cost is recognised immediately in the income statement {o the extent that the benefits are already
vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the presest value of the defined obligation as
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this
caleudation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available reflnds and reductions in future contributions to
the plan,

Leased assets

Assets held under operating leases are not capitalised. The operating lease related leasing charges are charged (o the income
statement as an expense on & straight-line basis over the lease term,

Nﬁ%hm}i@:x a\,:azuﬁ.mﬁwn‘hm assels

At cach balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of it non-current assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any sueh indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of foss. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from
other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unif to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value tess costs to seli and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset / cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset / cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately, uniess the relevant asset is carried at a revidued amount, in which case the impairment loss is weated as a
revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset / cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrving amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
waould have bees determined had no impairment loss being recognised for the asset / cash-generating unif in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment oss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant assef is carried at a revalued amount in
which case the reversal of the tmpairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Raw materials are valued on the basis of purchase cost on a first-in first-out basis, In the case of finished goods and work-in-
progress, cost includes direct materials, direct labour and attributable overheads based on normal operating capacity and
exclhudes borrowing costs, Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method.

Net realisable value is actual or estimated selling price less trade discounts, all further costs to completion and all costs to be
mcurred in marketing, selling and distribution,

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the suny of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in different periods and furthermore excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. Accounting policies {continued)

Tuxation (continued)

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or effectively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases as used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the
balance sheet Hability method. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combinsation) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation is measured ot the tax rates thal the differences are expecied to reverse at based on tax rates and laws enacted

or effectively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and iabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax fabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the samie tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to setile current tax labilities and assets on a net basis or their tax

assets and liabilities will be realised simultancousty.

A deferred tax asset i85 recognised for unused tax losses and fax crediis to the extent that i is probable that future taxable profits
wiil be available against which they can be utilised, Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial Habilities are recognised and reported on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, Non-derivative {inancial instruments comprise trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade receivables
Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed payments. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly Hquid investment that are
readily convertible into known amousts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value,

Kinancial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilitics and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of their underlying contractual
arrangements. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of'its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Floating rate notes, fixed rate notes and bank borrowings

Interest-bearing third party borrowings, bank loans and overdrafls are recognised initialty at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to isitial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised costs using
the effective interest method,

Shareholder loans

Sharcholder loans are recognised initially ai fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subseguent to initial
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised costs using the effective interest method, These are disclosed
separately in the financial statements as they are subordinated to the floating and fixed rate note borrowings and aze not due for
repayment until these borrowings have been repaid,

Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest bearing, ave stuted at their fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

- 56 - L T




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
2. Accounting policies {continued)

Financial instrinments (continued)
Derivative financial instrments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, prineipally being interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rates and foreign exchange risks arising from operational ead financing activities. The Group
does net enter into speculative transactions.

Derivative financial instroments are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-messured to their fair value at each reporting date.

The fair value of interest raie swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to ferminate the swap at the
balance sheet date, taking into account the current interest and currency exchange rates and the current creditworthiness of the
swap counterparties. These quotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms
and matueity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with
similar maturity profiles and equates to the quoted market price at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses on re-measurement to fair value are recognised immediately in the income staterment except where derivatives
are designated and effective as hedge instruments, in which event the timing of the recognition in the Consolidated Income
Statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives as cither (a) hedges of the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities of firm commitments (fair value hedges) or (b) hedges of foreign currency risk of
firm conunitments {cash flow hedges) or {c) hedges of net investments in foreign operations,

The fair values of various derivative financial instraments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 17 on financial
nstruments. Movements on the cash flow hedging reserve in equity are shown in note 20, Other Reserves. A derivative is
presented as a non-current asset or liability iff the remaining maturity of the mstrument is more than 12 months and is not

expected to be realised or settled within 12 months, Other derivatives are presented as current assets or liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which inelude derivatives, embedded derivatives and non derivatives in
respect of foreign currency risk, as cither cash flow hedges, or hiedpes of net investiments in foreign operations. Hedges of
foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash {low hedges. The Group designate its U.S, dollar
floating rate notes of $150 million as & hedge of its net investment in its U.S. operations. This is in Hae with the Group risk
management strategy.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hiedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an engoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument that
is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in ofisetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedging

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
reported in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense and in the hedging reserve in equity. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or s sold,
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense that has not been recognised in profit or loss when the hedged item is no longer
expected to oceur is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. The Group designate its U.S.
dollar floating rate notes of $130 million as a hedge of its net investmert in its U.S. eperations.  Any gain or loss on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the bedge is recognised in equity in the foreign currency translation
reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, Gains and losses
deferred in the foreign currency translation reserve are recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation,

-17-




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
2. Accounting policies (continucd)

Key sonrces of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of periedic financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements snd accompanying notes, Actual results could differ from those estimates,

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustient to the carrving amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are as set ouf below.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value of the cash-generating units to which goodwili
has been allocated, The value in use caleulation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value, Sensitivity analysis s performed in respect
of the main assumptions used. The results of this analysis are disclosed in note 9. The carrying value of goodwili as at 31
December, 2009 was €537.3 million (2008: €534.5 miillion).

Deferved tavation

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, tax eredits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that 3t is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised,
The Group estimates the most probable amount of future taxable profits, using assumptions consistent with those employed in
impairment calculations, and taking into consideration applicable tax legislation in the relevant operating jurisdictions. These
calculations require the use of estimates. The net deferred tax liability at 31 December, 2009 was €3.8 miilion (2008; €9.8
million).

Property, plant and equipment

Usefuld fives for property plant and equipment and their annual depreciation charge depend primarity on the estimated lives of
each type of asset and, in certain circumstances, estinates of residual values. Management regularly review these lives and
change them if necessary to reflect current conditions. In determining these usefud lives, management consider technotogical
change, patterns of consumption, physical condition and expected ecosomic utilisation of the asset. Changes in the useful tives
may have a significant smpact on the annual depreciation charge. Details of the useful lives are included in the accounting
policy captioned Property, Plant and Equipment on page 14,

The depreciation charge for the year ended 31 December, 2009 was €28.5 million {2008 €27.8 million).

Past retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit retirement plans. The Group's total obligation in respect of defined benefit
plans s calculated by independent, qualified actuaries, updated at least annually. The size of the obligation is sensitive to
actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include demographic assumptions covering mortality and lengevity, and economic
agsumptions covering price inflation, benefit and salary increases together with the discount rate used, The size of the plan
asset Is also sensitive to asset return levels and the level of contributions from the Group, Fhe retirement benefit obligation at
31 December, 2009 was €12.2 million (2008: €14,3 million}. Sensitivity analysis on the various assumptions used is provided
in note 31.
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Segment information

The Group has two reportable segments which are the Group's strategic businesses. The busineises offer different products and
are managed separately because they require different technology, equipment and marketing strategies. Information regarding
the revenue, profit and assets and other information is included below.

Performance is measured based on segment profit for flexible packaging and specialist packaging. The Executive Directors
review internal management reports on financial and operating results of these strategic businesses on a regular basis.

Our flexible packaging businesses include our plastic and polymer, foils and laminates and paper packaging businesses, Our
specialist packaging businesses include our folding cartons, labels, leaflets and inserts and printing businesses,

Year ended Year ended
31 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€000 €000
Revenue
Flexible packaging........... 569,517 633,531
Specialist packaging . . 220,368 243,889
Towal revenue 789,883 877,420
Profit for the period
Fiexible packaging.... . - 42,334 45,339
Specialist PACKAEING. oo et ase s s et s e 14,566 21,385
Unallocated COrporate EXPENSES.. oo o cee e ecire s teess e s semrenne {4,557) 4,171)
Profit before disposals of investment and restractusing CostS. e 52,339 61,553
Profit on disposal of Ivestment. ...t - 699
ReSIIUCTURIME COBE ottt it st rnesm s bbb s b e bt (5,065 {2,248)
Profit from operations 47,274 61,004
Finance costs.. (54,381) {38,456)
(L0883 7 PYOFL BETOIE LK, or v e e recrsesens s s smeearrce s mrsen {7,107 2,548
Ineome tax credil / (CXPEISE) i seresrerime e venns srese srenns 1,826 {769)
{Loss) / profit for the year from continuing operations........... (5,281) 1,779

The revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers, There were no material inter-segment
sales in the year (2008: Nil),

Revenue by products would net differ from the flexible and specialfst packaging revenue reported above,
No individual custoner comprises more than 10% of revenue for each reporting segment,
The accounting policies of the reporiable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies deseribed above.

Segment profit represents the profit before disposals of investment earned by each segment without allocation of central
administration costs and finance costs and income tax expense. Management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the businesses.

Of the 2009 restructuring costs of €5.1 million (2008; €2.2 million), €3.3 miilion (2008: €0.7 miilion) relates to our flexible
packaging businesses and €1.8 mitlion (2608: €1.5 miliion) relates to our specinlist packaging businesses,
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Segment information (continued)

Year ended
31 December,
2009

€000

Capital additions

Flexible packagifg. i s e b saeat v i 12,064

Specialist packaging. 4,473
16,537

R o Ine e

Depreciation
Flexible packaming... oo o sninis s sesessrsresicanee 18,376
SPECHAlEST PACKAZIIE oot it nr e coreems v v et ne e st _loaxar

Year ended
31 December,
2009

€000
Balance Sheet
Assets
Flexible packaging.....cocioiiie st et

639,317
Specialist PAckaging. .o

291 413
930,730

TFotal 885185, oot

1,029,909

Liabilities

FIexible pacKaging. ..ot e e cesn e sr e s 120,629

Specialist PACKAZING. .o et e e 52,731
173,360

Unallocated corporate Habilities. . s s s 836,239

Total BabiItES. v vesirvcieis i s s e st sn st s

1009599

Far the purposes of monitering segment performance and allocating resources between sepments:

« all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than centrally held corporate assets; and

Year ended
331 December,
2008

€060

20,387
9,482

17,121
10,653
27,774

Year ended
31 December,
2048

€000

669,443
278.325
947,768

80,715

1,028,483

181,976

824,001

1,005, 977

s alf liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than interest bearing loans and borrowings, shareholders’
loans, interest due on loans and other borrowings, interest due on shareholders’ loans, and other financial liabilities.

Year ended
31 December,
2009

Average number of full time emplioyees during the year

Flexille packaging. ..o oo crereec e oo e sessssce s e sse e 2,274
Speialist PAcKaging. ..o et s eee 2,45

4,319

0 .

Year ended
31 December,
2008

i oo dofo




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Segment information (continued)

Geographical information

Year ended
31 December,
2809

€800

Analysis of revenue by manufacturing origin

FIUTOPIC. 1.ttt ettt et s rh et e gt g et a e kb f e e n e 562,823
North Amesic. e

789,885

Year ended
31 December,
2009

€060

Analysis of profit from operations by location before restructuring costs and

investments by location

BUIOPE. 1 vt s b b b e 39,843
North AmMerica......n. 12,496

52,338

Year ended
31 December,
2009
€000
Analysis of segment assets by location

BUFOPE. 1 ccinere et emss st e an s s s s b b bbb er e er e e s rnre e 769,814
North AMEriCi. . oo e

1,029,90¢

Year ended
31 December,
209

€000

Capital additions
BIFOPE. it bbb st b R b LA e 12,444
MNOFID ATTIEFICAL ..ottt e bt ma e ca s e seme e 4,093

16,537

[P UVTVEVERE PR B WP

Depreciation
BLUEOPIE. ¢ seetremcrnensesan e en et cen e res s e v s e ar e et mh s £h e e e e 19,671
NOFTN AITIEEICAL 1ot ceie it ie b e es s ames et e s et ve sttt er ot os et resa s et ean s st cen 8,832

28,503

e § I

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€080

630,290
247,130
877,420

Year ended
31 December,
2008

Co00

49,397
13,156
62,353

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€000

715,759
252,724
1,028,483

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€000

23,451
6,418
29,869

19,370
8,404
27,774
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMERTS (CONTINUED)
4. Restroeturing costs

Year ended
31 December,

2009
€000
TFEPMUNBEON COSIE, et vrvvrverreirs e vivrareereersesssr e srsnsessorarearsss s eessessssessnsrs sesoss 2,330
OTher sesUCIUTING COSIS. e cecare et vrn e s sse e reair srsseras ressssar sresssss srn- 2,735
3,065

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€040

1,440
808

The restructuring costs relate to employment reductions, the consolidation of production sites and other initiatives to maximise

the potential of our businesses,

5. Finance costs

Year ended
31 December,
2609

€000

On all other loans, excluding sharcholders’ 16ans.....vccionevricinns 34,242
On shareholders” Joans - accumulating HHerest .o 17,510
Finance cost amorisation o1 4ebl. ... cciic et e 2,820

54,872
Iterest TTeiVABIE. ..o ettt (491)

54,38}

The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed is 6% per annum (2008: 7%).

Year endest
31 Becember,
2008

€000

40,567
16,528

2,820
59,915
{1,459
58456




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. Profif before income tax

Year ended
31 Becember,
2009

The profit befere income tax is stated after charging / {credsing)

Raw material Costs. v
Depreciation of property, plant and equipnent..
Net {oreign exehAnEe FRINL oo ettt
Other production overReads. ..o e

€000

451,184
28,503

(376)
178,787

08 BT SAIES. ..o e ee ettt et em i e e s aee et rrr e e

658,098

Execcutive Directors” emolUments. ... ..o v cevrertieore e esse e v e

786

Remuneration Deloitte Accountants B V.:
TaX VIS OTY 1 ivvievrirns i coenterrosserrsnrees e reras s rasrvrerrs s sn s s seass sssenternessatesvesreasses
INON BULH TELAIEAL i cvreerr v s e ecs s s v s e ren s e rene vevenees

Remuneration other Deloitte member firms/affiliates:
INOT BUAH TEIAIE et ner s bbb e reve b enbasbe srsrra e

387
120

607

The audit fee for Non Deloite firms was €193 thousand (2008: €218 thousand).

7. Empleyees and remuneration

Year ended
31 December,
2009

Wages and salaries. ..o “
Social welfare costs and SNEr EXES. ..o e
PEngion COBS .. i ceine e e e se e eerenssarene

€900

£55,047
23,654
6,418

185,119

Average number of full time employees during the year

4,319

Compensation of key management personnel

Year ended
31 December,
2009

€000

SBOTt 01m DENCIS. . v et s s e snr s b s
Post cmployment BEnefils. o s aress s s s s erin

1,041
749

1,794

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€000

520,421
27,774
(336)
185,119

732,965

Year ended
31 December,
...2008

€000

160,819
24,359
6.411
191,589

"

4,584

Year ended
31 December,
2008

€80

1,181
603
1,784

1AS524: Related Party Disclosures defines key management personnel as those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or

otherwise) of that entity.

The key management personnel conipensation noted above is in respect of Supervisory and Executive Board Directors of

Clondalkin Group Holdings B,V.

R




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8. Income {ax expense

Year ended
31 December,
2009

Inceme tax recognised in profit or loss

The Netherlands.....o.oe
Foreign taxation.........,

€000

4,349

CUITENt LAX CXPCISC. e ihrtasisienstis siestiissemt v serine st st et erens rreses becsacrernees

Deferred taxation relating fo the origination and reversal of temporary
differences. ..o

4,349

(6,175)

Total tax {credit) / expense relating to continuing operations. ..o e

(1,826}

Reconciliation of the effective fax rate

(Loss) / profit before tax multiplied by standard rate of carporation
taxation in the Netherlands of 25.5% {2008: 25.5%) v icnininna
Factors affeeting income tax expense / credit
Other differences. ... enerens
Effect of other tax rates on foreign camings.......

(1,813)

393
(406

Income (8% (Cradit) / EXPeIEC. e s e s e

{1,836

Tax (credit} / charge recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

Deferred tax charge / {credit) on actuarial gains 7108888, ccvicicne,
Deferred tax credit on cash Aow hedge oo

40
(142)

Tax credit recognised direetly in the consolidated statement of
recognised income and expense.

{102)

9. Goodwill

31 December,
2009

At beginning of Period. . i s
Acquired during the vear (ROt8 23
Foreign currency ransIBlOM. ... s svas b arserine

€000

534,514
5,409
{2,605)

Atend of period..

537318

The Executive Directors are satisfied that there has been no impairment of goodwill in the period.

224

Year ended
31 December,

4,925

4,925

{(4,156)

79

650

(644)
763
769

(782)
(1,446)

31 December,
2008
€000

512,237
20,254
2,023
534514




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED}

9. Goodwill (centinued)

Goodwill acquired in business combinations s aliocated at acqguisition 1o the cash-generating units or groups of cash generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been aliocated as follows:

31 December, 31 December,

2609 2008

€000 €600

FIexibIe PACKARINE. oo eacer e s ea s s v s vss b s s st s s e b 371,610 374N
Specialist packaging. ..o ettt ettt e ah e e v 165,708 139,803
537,318 . 534,514

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired,
by camparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating units or group of cash-generating units to their recoverable amounts,
based on value-in-use calculations.

Value-in-use calculations are determined by discounting the forecasted cash flows from the cash-generating units based on the
following key assumptions:

e Cash flows are projected based on actual operating results and next three year financial projections approved by
rmanagement, Cash flows beyend this period are extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 2% per annum;

e The projected revenue growth and margin development included in the cash flow projections is based on historical
experience and the expected development of new products, as set out in management’s financial projections; and

o The projected pre-tax cash ffows are discounted to their present value using & pre-tax weighted average cost of capital
(“WACC™) 0f9.0 %.

The impairment review carried out as deseribed above with an effective date of 31 December, 2009 did not prompt any
impairment charge or write off as the value-in-use recoverable amounts exceeded the carrying value of the cash-generating units.
Furthermore, an inerease of 1% in the WACC would not cause any goodwill impainment.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16, Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Fixtares and
Buildings Machinery Fittings Total
€000 €000 €000 €'000

Cost
At ¥ January, 2608, 92,715 178,248 15,750 286,712
Foreign currency translation..... e e o (B163 {2,335} (215 (3,566}
Acquired on acquisition.. ..., 2,181 5,901 127 8,200
Additions, 2,082 25,336 2481 29,869
DHSPOSALS. .o 3 {2,002 {144y (2,149
At 31 December, 2008 96,129 204,948 17,999 319,076
Foreign currency trasslation........conne {145y i51 38 64
Acquired on acquisition...... » - 2,944 - 2,944
AdIONS. oov v stessie e einree e 1,528 13,206 1,303 16,537
DHSPOSAS. ..o eeese oo ee e (5.914) (4,644) 271) (10,829)
A1 31 December, 2009.......... 91,598 216,605 19,589 327,792
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January, 2008, 6,192 70,779 8,107 85,078
Foreign currency translation, (228) (579 (102) (909}
ESPOSAIS... s i e s (3 (1.70%) {72} {1,784}
Charge for the period..nem oo 2.568 22,369 2,837 27,774
At 31 December, 2008..........ooooovooeeern. 8,520 90860 10,770 110,159
Fareign eurrency transiation, (58) {313 24 (347}
DESPOSAIS... v orve s s vcrsrere s rarascansarnns s {465) (4,137) (199) (4,821}
Charge for the period...or e 3,104 22,991 2,408 28,503
At 31 December, 2009.....corennivrrennen. 11,110 109,381 13,003 133,494
Carrying amount
At 31 December, 20080 i 87,600 114,088 7,229 08917
At 31 December, 2009 ..o 80,488 107,274 6,586 194,398




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11, Financial Assets

31 December, 31 December,

2009 2008

Group €000 €009
Af beginning of period - 500
Part disposal of investment........oeeee - (500}

Atend of period........ e s .

In 2008, we received €1.2 million upon the disposal of eur investment in Kelvinside as that company, in which we had an
approxinute 16% equity interest, prompted a share buy back from all its shareholders on a pari-passu basis. The profit on
sale of investment recognised in the year ended 31 December, 2008 was €0.7 million. This is in addition to the €2.1
miilion proceeds received in the vear ended 31 December, 2007,

12, Inventories

31 Becember, 3% December,

2009 2008

€000 €000

Raw materials...ov v et iega e e e st e et et nes s s nea et 27,736 28,182
WOTK 111 PROZFESE. .o oveieiccri et et s caas s e s s s et nes s 8,807 9,796
Finished goots. . ens s s st sen 38,304 40,503
A2 18481

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was €451.2 miltion (2008: €520.4 million).

13, Trade and other reccivables

31 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€060 €060

Amounts {ailing due within one year
Trade 1eCeIVADIES. . .oov v ekttt et n e 80,793 88,435
Prepayments and acerued iNEOMC...ov.u i i rermenes . 9,980 10406

90,773 98 841

Trade Receivables

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables, The amounis presented in the balance sheet are net of
aflowances for doubtfu] receivables, estimated by the Group's management based on prior experience, collection activity and
arrcars and having regard to prevailing economic conditions,

Before accepting new customers, we perform various approval procedures, ineluding operating limited credit arrangements ai
relationship commencement and carrying out reviews o assess the credit quality of new customers. We allocate credit limits to
all customers and these limits are reviewed regularty. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers. No individual customer represents more than 5% of our overall
trude receivables balance,

To prompt diligent credit collection activity we typically operate short credit terms to our customers, between 30 and 43 days.
The value of the past due receivables measured against these limits was €16,1 million at 31 December, 2009 (2008: €21.9
million). Practically all of these past due receivables have been collected since the year end. In the year ¢nded 31 December,
2009, our average credit days given varied between 39 days and 41 days (2008: between 39 days and 41 days),

-97.

[0 05~ 2010 P



CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Analysis of Ageing Profile of Trade Receivables

Of which: Of which: not impaired on the reporting date

neither and past due in the following periods

Carrying  impaired nor Less than  Between 3¢ Between 61 More than

Amount past due 30 days & 60 days & 90 days 90 davs

€000 €000 €600 €'600 €'060 €000

As at 31 December 2009, 80,793 64,688 il 3,014 1,011 785
As at 31 Decernber 2008........ v 88,435 66,519 15,341 3.507 1,313 1,753

With respect to the trade receivabies that are neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications as of the reporting date that

the debtors will net meet their payment obligations.

14, Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equIVBIENRIS. .o

31 December,
2009

€000

111,989

31 Becember,

2008

€004

95,927

At 31 December, 2009 €0.8 million (2008: €0.8 millicn) of the above cash balances were restricted by the mandated cash
reserve requirement to support the Group's self insured workers” compensation arrangement, The Group’s cash balance is

entirely comprised of ¢ash and does not contain any cash equivalents.

15, Trade and other payabies

31 December,
2009

Trade payables and accruals.
Social security and Other TAXES. ..oy
Value-added and sales taxes..............

€000

124,933
370
5,187

133,830

31 Becember,

2008
€060

131,641
3,616
3,022

138279

Trade payables and accruals include amounts due to suppliers who purpoert to hold reservation of title, i the year ended 31

December, 2009, our average credit days taken were 53 days (2008: 55 days).

228 -




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FIN:

VCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINULD)

16. Interest hearing loans and borrowings

31 December, 31 December,

2669 2008

Amounts due withis one year €000 €000
Revolving credif faciliiy. ..o it s - 9,321

Amounts due after one year

FLOAINE TALE RO, v vvrirrrarecrsresrscenssinrnnrvcriserssssessosmssmnssrarsmsaserenia eossaseresas 404,123 407,782
FIREA TALE TLOLES. ... cvsieis et eveiaes v e b ekt s s rmete st eva s sre s e s eeesna sins see e pmsensane e 170,000 170,000
Finance costs, net of amortisation €2.8 million (2008: €2.8 million), ......... . (11,384) (14,207)
562,739 e 363,575
Amounis due to Clondalkin Group Heldings B.V. e {74,985 175,055
737,724 738,630

Approximately, €8.9 million of the 31 December, 2009 {2008: €11.1 million) finance costs net of amortisation of €11.4
million (2008: €14.2 millicn) relate to the floating rate notes issued 19 June, 2007, The remaining finance costs net of
amortisation €2.5 million (2008: €3.1 million) relate to the €170.0 million fixed rate notes issued 11 March, 2004,

Floating rate notes

On 19 June, 2007, the Company’s subsidiary Clondalkin Acquisition BV, (“CABV™), issued €300.0 million Euro
denominated floating rate notes and $150.0 million U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes (together “the fleating rate
notes™) at 100% of par value. The floating rate notes, whick mature on 15 December, 2013, bear interest at 2% above the
three-month inter-bank rate, payable quarterly in arrears in March, June, September and December each year.

The floating rate notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by Clondalkin Greup Holdings B.V., the Company’s parent company,
and by ifs subsidiary CABV, the issuer of the floating rate notes, and by most of CABV’s subsidiaries (“the subsidiary
Guarantors™). The subsidiary Guarantors account for more than 95% of each of the Group’s revenue, tangible assets and
Earnings before interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA). The obligations of CABY and the subsidiary
Guarantors under the Guarantees are secured by a combination of first priority fixed and floating charges and liens over
substantially ali of the assets of CABV and CABV’'s subsidiaries. Where such charges are not attached to assets, alternative
security enforcement rights such as share pledges have been given, In addition, the Group has entered into various covenants
which place restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and on dividend and other sharcholder payments and on
Hiens.

The proceeds of the floating rate notes were used to repay all of our existing bank borrowings of approximately €286.2
millien, with the balance after issuance expenses applied to finance the acquisitions completed in the year ending 31
December, 2007,

The fleating rate notes are dug as follows:

31 December, 31 December,

2009 2008

€000 T eo00

Between one 810 fW0 YEATS. ..o e s es s o1 sts st ssseenas - -

Between two and three years... ORI - -

Between three and fOUT VRATS. ... i s ss s s 404,123 -

Between four and five YOS ...ovirnreimisiies s nesessesss e sen s ss vesens - 407,782
Thereafter:

By 35taIIMENE .o s et s e s s st e s - -

Other than by instalment........... - -

404,123 407,782

.29 .




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED}

16. Interest bearing loans and borrewings (centinued)

Revolving eredit facility

In addition, we have a €28.5 mitlion revolving credit facility which we can draw upon to finance working capital
requirements, On 3 December, 2008, we drew down €9.3 million of this facility which we repaid on 2 June, 2009,

The revolving credit facility is secured by 2 combination of first priority fixed and floating charges over most of the tangible
and intangible assets of the Group. Where such charges are not attached to assets, alternative security enforcement rights such
as share pledges have been given.

Fixed rate notes

On 11 March, 2004, the Company ssued €170 million Euro denominated fixed rate notes. These fixed rate notes mature in 15
March, 2014, The annual interest rate on the fixed rate notes of 8% is fixed for the duration of the borrowing. Interest is
payable in arrears in two equal anmial instaiments in March and September cach vear.

The fixed rate notes are unsecured obligations of the Company. Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V., as parent company, and
most of its wholly owned subsidiaries have gnaranteed the fixed rate notes. The guarantee is a general obligation that becomes
due 179 days after a payment defauit or earlicr in limited circumstances and is subordinated to the rights of the fenders of the
revolving credit facility and floating rate note fenders,

The guarantee ranks equally with or senior to any other current or future subordinated indebtedness of the guarantor
companies.

In addition, the Group has entered into varions covenants which place resirictions on the incurrence of additional indebledness
and on dividend and other sharcholder payments and on liens.

Sharcholder’s loans

In connection with the acquisition of Clondalkin Group Holdings Limited cffective February 28, 2004, Clondalkin Group
Holdings B.V,, the Company’s parent company, raised €180 million of finance comprising shareholder loans of €149.3
milkion, options and rights over shares and foan notes in the predecessor Clondalkin Group Holdings Limited were exchanged
for options and rights over shares and loan notes i Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V. to the value of €9.6 million and share
capital of €21.1 million. An additional €2.8 million mn shares and loan notes were issued o management investors between 28
Febroary 2004 and 31 Decemnber, 2008, including €0.5 million in 2007, mainly being the exercise of management options
over shareholders’ toans.

‘The shareholders’ foans referred to above, which mature in 2015, are subordinated to the prior rights of the floating rate notes,
revolving eredit facility and the fixed rate notes and do not qualify for repayment until the floating rate notes and revolving
credit facility are repaid and while the fixed rate notes are unpaid, certain significant restrictions on repayment are also
applied. Interest accrues on the sharcholders” loans at the rate of 7.57% per year payable in June and December each year, bw
unti] maturity, interest is to be capitalised provided, however, except that from 2008, 1,5% interest per annum may be payable
in cash, subject to the terms of the floating rate notes, revelving credit facility and the fixed rate notes.

Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V. has granted a sharcholder's loan to the Company of €175.0 million on approximately the
same terms and conditions as above.

w30 -




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Derivatives and financial instruments

Interest rate and currency profile

The interest rate and currency profile of the Group's principal financial instruments, including short term receivables and
payables, at 31 December, 2009 was as follows:

Luro Non Euro
Denominated Denominated Total
L] €'000 €000
Fived rate debt
Floating rate notes under inferest hedging arrangements. e e 151,715 54,989 206,704
Weighted average fixed debl interest e oo 4.88% 5.27% 4.98%
Weighted average fixed debt periof. ..o 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 yewrs
Fixed rate notes, 170,000 - 170,000
Weighted average fixed debt interest rates........cveimvim e verie s 8% - 8%
Weighted average fixed debt period e 4.2 years - 4.2 years
Sharehoiders’ loans and amounts due to shareholders.. oo, 174,985 - 174,985
Weighted average fixed debt interest rates....... T.695% - 7.693%
Weighted average fixed debt period......... 3.2 years - 5.2 years
496,700 54,989 551,689
Variable rate debr
Floating rate notes.. 300,000 104,123 404,123
Transfer to fixed rate debt — nominal value of interest swaps, (151,715 (54,989} (206,704)
148,285 49,134 197,419
Total borrowings 644,985 104,123 749,108
Bank and cash balances - floating rates. ..ot 87,377 24,612 111,989
Net debt by major cutrency 557,608 79,511 637,119
Trade and other recaivables. v o 497946 40,977 90,773
Trade payables and 2eertals. ..oy 68,641 56,292 124,933
The non Euro denominated net debt was comprised as follows:
U.S, Dollar Sterling Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Floating rate notes at fixed ralos. oo e, 34,989 - - 54,989
Floating rate notes at variable rates, 49,134 - - 49,134
Bank and cash balances ~ floating rates....oeeemiienns 10,938 7,094 6,580 24,612
Trade and other receivables. s 21,021 12,612 7,344 40,977
Trade payables and acoruals. . ccvocine i, 28,081 16,212 11,999 56,292




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Berivatives and financial insiruments (continued)

Interest rate and currency profile

The interest rate and currency profile of the Group's principal financial instruments, including short term receivables and
payabies, at 31 December, 2008 was as follows:

Euro Non Euro
Denominated Denominated Total
€000 €406 €000
Fixed rate debt
Floating rate notes under interest hedging arrangements. ... 127.489 57,576 185,065
Weighted average fixed debt inferest rates..o s 6.29% 6.62% 6.39%
Weighted average fixed debt period......cieciiniccn e 1.75 years 1.75 years 1.75 years
Fixed rate notes...... ... e R e s 1 RS et e 170,000 - 170,000
Weighted average fixed debt Inferest 1a185...ov oo e v inemenin 8% - 8%
Weighted average fixed debt period.....oo i 5.2 years - 5.2 years
Sharcholders’ foans and amounts due to sharchalders...coov e 175,055 - 175,055
Weighted average fixed debt interest rates 7.695% - 7.695%
Weighted average fixed debdt period bt 6.2 years - 6,2 years
477,544 57,576 530,120
Variable rate debr
Floating rate notes...... . 300,000 107,782 407,782
Transfer 1o fixed rate debt ~ nominal value of interest swaps.......... (127.489) (57.576) {185,065)
172,511 50,206 222,17
Revolving eredil BIciHY. i aremssvssers s sirios 9,321 - 9,321
Total borrowings.. bbb et e bt s s et e e e em e s ereeren 654,376 107,782 762,159
Bank and cash balances ~ floating rates. ..o i (79,278) (16,649} {93,927)
INEE dEBE ettt et vt by sttt es e mrne e 575,098 01,133 666,231
Trade and other receivables bbb bbbt s 56,155 . 42,686 98,841
Trade payables and acemials.. .o e 73,969 57,672 131,641
The non Euro denominated net debt was comprised as follows:
U.S. Dollar Sterling Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Floating rate notes at fiXed rteS ... s ivonivvcnnicnnn 57.576 - - 57,576
Floating rate notes at variabie rates,.....cocvvvenicim o 50,206 - - 50,206
Bank and cash balances ~ floating rates..covvincoiinine 5,147 6,746 4,756 16,649
Trade and other receivableS.. i, e 24,146 11,371 7,164 42,686
Trade payables and accruals. 32,025 13,781 11,866 57,672

R e TIL 2




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17, Derivalives and financial instruments {continued)

The principal financial insteuments used to fund the operations comprise floating rate notes, fixed rate notes, shareholders” loans
and cash. Other financial instruments such as frade receivables, trade payables, accruals and provisions also arise from the
Group's operations.

The Group does not trade in financial instruments.
Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to continue as going concern entities
white maximising the retura to stakeholders, through the optimisaticn of the debt and equity balance.

EBITDA performance is one of the Group’s key measures. The Group sets EBITDA targets that will allow the Group to achicve
its objectives of maximising the return to stakeholders. These targets can be achieved through both acquisitive and organic
growth. Actual EBITDA is reviewed against target on a monthly basis and where variations oceur corrective actions are
prompted.

“The capital structure of the Group comprises debt which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 16, cash and cash equivalents
and equity atiributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising capital, reserves and retained carings as disclosed in notes
19, 20 and 21 respectively,

The Executive Directors review the capital structure on an ongoing basis. As part of this review, the costs of eapital and the risks
agsociated with each class of capital are considered.

The Executive Directors are satisfied that the current capital structure is appropriate and will enable the Group 1o continue as &
going concern for the foreseeable future,

Financial risk management

The Executive Directors with the aid of the Group Corporate Treasury function moniter and manage the financial risks relating to
the operations of the Group on an ongoing basis. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk}, credit risk and liguidity risk. The Group secks to minimise the effects of currency and interest risks by using derivative
financial instruments to hedge these risks exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies which
provide written principles on the various forms of risk management. The policies used to mitigate market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk are deseribed below in this note. Compliznce with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal audit
function on a continucus basis. The Group does not enter inte or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk

The Group trading activities” primary financial risks relate to changes in foreign currency rates and interest rates. The Group
eniers into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage these exposures, including:

o Forward foreign contracts 30 hedge the exchange risk arising on the sale of finished goeds and the purchase of raw
materials where such sales and purchases are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
refevant business; and

s The Group converts some of its floating interest rate note borrowings to fixed interest rates by using interest rate swaps
to mitigate the risk of increasing interest rates during the term of the borrowing,

Foreign currency risk management

The Group’'s foreign currency transaction risk is managed through the use of derivative instruments, mainly foreign currency
purchase and sale contracts. The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal
markets,

The total notional amount of the cutstanding forward foreign exchange contracts that the Group has committed to are set out in
the felfowing table, which details the forward foreign currency contracts outsianding at 31 December, 2009 compared to 31
December, 2008,

Z3%-




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Berivatives and financial instruments (continued)

Foreign exchange forward Notional Amount Average conlract rate Fair value gain / (Joss)
contracts

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

B0 0 €000 €000
Receive EUR, pay GBP......... €1,880 €4,214 0.8974 (8100 (1% 630
Receive BUR, pay USD............ €3,158 6,099 14630 1.3383 (49 234
Receive GBP, pay EUR........... £2,991 £4,058 0.8889 (.8099 3 (730)
Receive GBP, pay USD........... £37 - 1.6288 - - -
Receive GBP, pay SEK............ - £231 - 11.7863 - %)
Receive GBP, pay AUD. ... - £650 - 22071 - (253
Receive GBP, pay NKR........... - £124 - 10.4515 - (3)
Receive GBP, pay NZD....... - £296 - 2.6449 - (13)
Receive USD, pay BEUR............ 916 $4.377 1.4690 1.3872 66 (19
Receive USD, pay GBP.......... 534 - 1.6326 - - -
Receive SEK, pay EUR............ SEK 483 SEK. 1,209 10,4375 3.9879 | (10
Receive SEK, pay GBP......... SEK 6,794 SEK 5,250 11.8216 121773 16 30

These forward foreign exchange contracts relate to forward commitments entered into during the vear and outstanding at the year
end. These contracts arise from our daily trading activities and are intended to mitigate foreign exchange risks due to currency
fluctuations between the time our sale or purchase is commitied and the time if is settled in cash, All of these contracts mature
within one year. The total amount of open forward contracts entered into at 31 December, 2009 is €12.6 million (2008: £19.6
miillion). The fair value of contracts entered into at 31 December, 2009 s less than €0.¢ miltion (2008; €0.1 million).

With regard to feretgn currency translation exposure, the Group secks to minimise this exposure by denominating a portion of
borrowings in U.S. dollars to reflect U.S. dollar profit and cash flows. The currency exchange exposure on investments in 1.5,
dollar dominated entities is €183.6 million {2008; €187.4 million} and the group has designated U.S. doHar debt of €104.1 million
(2008: €107.8 million) 45 a hedge against this net investment exposure, Less than 20% of the Group’s activiiies are denominated
in nen Euro and non U.S. dollar currencies, The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities at the balance sheet date are:

2004 U.S. Dollar Sterling Other Total
€'000 €600 €000 €'080

ASSCIS1rvvvveruinsssssstons enmesme oo s sssss et 34,909 19,133 12,165 66,207

Liabiliies i v 145,755 18,251 15,218 179,224

2008

ASECS 32,393 17,583 10,785 60,761

LIabElES, 1o s enres 143,751 13,781 11,866 169,398

Foreign carrency sensitivity analysis

The Greup’s main son Euro currency exposures are LS. dollar and Sterling. The following table indicates the Group's sensitivity
in terms of income statements effects and balance sheet effects to a 5% increase and decrease in these currencies compared to the
Eure. This sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at period end for a 5% change in the Euro compared to the U.S. dollar and Sterling. A positive sumber indicates an
merease in profit and other equity where the Euro weakens against the foreign currency. In the case of g 3% strengthening of the
Euro, the value ¢ffeet is the same but results in a decrease in profit and other equity.

31 December, 2009 31 December, 2008
Euro Euro Euro Euro
weaker stronger weaker stronger
€000 €080 €000 €000
Profit or toss effect relating mainly to receivables and payables...... 444 (444) 43 {43)
Other equity effect refating to financing arrangements.......c.ocoe...... {5,206) 5,200 (5,389) 3,389

-34 -




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
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17, Derivatives and financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

The profit or loss effect above is made up of a gain on the U.S. dollar receivables and payables of €0.3 million, a loss on the
Sterling receivabies of €0.1 miflion and a gain of €0.2 million on the other receivables and payables. The other equity effect is
due primarily to the foreign currency translation of the U.S. dollar $150 million floating rate notes.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed o interest rate risk as interest is received on cash and cash equivalents at floating rates and funds are
borrowed at both fixed and floating rates. The interest rate risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix
between fixed and floating rate borrowings and by using interest rate swap contracts. Our interest rate management arrangements
are evaluated regularty to take account of developing interest rate trends and having regard to tolerable risk fevels.

Interest rafe sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below bave been determined based on the Group's exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date.
For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the Hability outstanding at the bakince sheet date was
outstanding for the whole year. If interest rates had been 30 basis points higher (lower) and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s profit for the vear would increase {decrease) by €1.2 million (2008: increase {decrease) by €0.7 miliion). The
Group's sensitivity to interest rates increased during the year ended 31 December, 2009 due to the lower hedge proportion of
variable rate debt in 2009 compared to 2008.

Interest rate swaps and capped rates

Under inferest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to swap floating rate debt for fixed rate debt. Such swaps enable the Group
to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed rate debi and the cash flow exposures on the issued
variable rate debt, The fair value of interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting period is determined by discounting the future
cash flows using the yield curves at the end of the reporting period and the credit risk inherent in the contract, and is disclosed
below. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period, The floating rate on the
interest raie swaps is the Euro and ULS. dollar three month inferest rate. The Group scttles the difference between the fixed and
floating interest rate on a nel basis, cach quaster,

The Group has implemented interest hedge arrangements, using a combination of interest rate swaps and capped rates. The risk
being hedged 15 the movement in the three menth Euro and U5, dollar interest rates,

The average hedged balance covered for the period to September, 2010 is €160.8 million. The all in hedged interest rates {or the
Euro debt is 6.3% and the all in hedged rate on the U.S. dollar debt is 6.6%. The all in combined for the Euro and U.S. dollar
debt will be 6.4%.

In June 2009, we hedged 60% of cur floating rate borrowing by swapping from floating rate debt to fixed rate debt from June
2019 1o June 2012 using interest rate swaps at effective annual interest rates of 4.5% for the Euro denominated debt and 4.8% for
the 1.8, dollar denominated debt., The risk being hedged is the movement in the three month Euro and U.S. dollar interest rate.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured to fair value at
reporting dafes. The gain or loss arising on re-measurement is recognised in the income statements excepl where the instrument
is a designated hedging instrument under the cash-flow hedging model. In order to qualify for hedge aceounting, the Group is
required to document the relationship between the ifem being hedged and the hedging instrument and demonstrate that the hedge
relationship will be highly effective on an ongoing basis, The hedge relationship must also be tested for effectiveness
retrospectively and prospectively on subsequent reporting dates,

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges that are determined to be highly effective are recognised in a cash-flow hedging reserve
within equity to the extent that they are actually effective. When the underlying transaction aceurs, the deferred gains or losses
are released 1o the mcome statement. Ineffective portions of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument are recopnised in the
income statement,

All interest rate swaps entered into by the Group are designated as cash-flow hedges in accordance with IAS 3%: Financial
Ingtruments — Recognition and Measurement, The Group has tested the hedging relationships and determined them to be highly
effective both prospectively and retrospectively,
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17, Derivatives and financial instruments (continued)

The Group’s derivative financial Habilities are as follows; 31 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€006 €ron
EUro interest 7ate SWHPS. ..o e e OISR 3,734 2,826
LS. dollar interest rate swaps.. 2,394 2,844
6,128 3,670

Analysed as:
INOTICUITET ot snieesss e eraeene e sb bbb ctses bbbt e et e 1,795 2,142
Current.....cimeeenin 4,333 3,528
6,128 5,670

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its confractual obligations resulting in a financial loss o the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of oaly dealing with craditworthy counterparties. The Group’s exposure and credit rating
of its counterparties are monitored on & continuous basis. Trade receivables consist of a farge number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical arcas primarily in Europe and North America. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of accounts receivable and where possible and appropriate credit guarantee inswrance cover is purchased. The
Group’s total credit risk is its trade receivables of €81.7 million (2008: €89.2 million) as disclosed in note 13.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterpartics that have
similar characteristics, Concentration of credit risks did not exceed 5% of gross monciary assets at any Hme during the year. The
credit risk on Hquid funds is limited because the counterparties we deal with are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Other price risks

Raw materials comprise a significant portion of our costs of sales. Due to our focus on producing higher value added products and
out lack of dependence on individual costomers, we are able generally to pass on increases in raw material costs to our customers
within a relatively short perfod of time, We generally do not enter into fixed price contracts with customers and in practically all
cases we agree the raw material cost contend with custormers when we set our selling prices. We scek to achieve a balance among
the raw materials used to produce our products, which we believe assists us in servicing customer requirements while also
improving our ability to cross-sell products to existing eustomers.

Liguidity risk management

Ultimnate responsibiiity for liquidity risk management rests with the Executive Directors to ensure there is an appropriate risk
management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and tong-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. Liguidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate available cash balances, banking facilities and callable
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and by matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and Nabilities,

Liguidity tables

The following table indicates the Group’s non-derivative financial Hubilities” expected settlernent maturity profile at their
undiscounted principal cash flow values and allocated to the repayment periods based upon the earliest dates the liabilities can

be called for settlement, inclusive of any applicable imerest and settlement amounts. The fiabilities included represent the

Group's total non-current liabilities and current Habilities.
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17, Derivatives and finaneisl instruments (continued)

2009 Less One to Three One Over
than one three mionths to fo five five
month months one year years Yeurs Total
€000 €000 €600 €060 €000 €000
Non-interest bearing instruments..... 86,174 31,494 19,863 8,603 25,661 171,797
[nterest bearing insfruments............. . 5,879 3,230 573,918 261,720 846,787
86,174 37,373 23,115 384,521 287,381 1,018,564
2008 Loss One {o Fhree One Qver
than one three months to to five five
month maonths one year vears years Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €006 €600
Non-interest bearing instruments..... 83,004 28,313 30,7714 9,444 28,995 180,530
Isterest bearing instruments............, - 15,366 1,856 409,714 414,000 841,936
83,004 43,679 33,630 419,158 442,995 1,022,466

The following table indicates the Group’s non-derivative financial assets’ expected settlement maturity profile at their
undiscounted prineipal cash flow values and allocated to the expected seftlement period. The assets inchided are Group's trade
receivables and deferred tax assets {the latter being classified as receivable after more than one vear).

Less than One to Over
one month four months one year Total
2009 €000 €600 €006 €000
INON-TEIESt DEATIBE. oo mene e 39,063 22,495 18,283 99,84 1
2008
INON-iterest BEAriBig.. oo cvrresriveririresimnierevinns 65,752 23,489 14,085 103,326

Fair value of financial asseis and liabilities
The book values and fair vaiues of the financial assets and financial labilities were:

31 Becember, 2009 31 December, 2008
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
€000 €000 €600 €000
Asgsets
Bank and cash balances.. ... s e P11,984 111,989 95,927 95,927
Accounts receivable and prepayments.. .. e 90,773 90,773 98,841 98,341
Liabilities
Accounts payable and acerued Habilities.....oooooeve. 124,933 124,933 131,641 131,641
Interest due on bank loans and other borrowings. ... 4,814 4814 5,163 5,163
Short term debt - revolving credit facility......c.oe.eo. - - 9,32} 9,321
Long term debt........... 574,123 313,312 577,782 309,047
Derivative financial liabilities..... 6,128 6,128 3.670 3,670
Interest due on sharebolders® 10ans.....ocvevveser i 86,737 86,737 68,945 68,945
Amounts due 10 PArent. .o e 174,985 174,983 175,055 175,055
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17, Derivatives and financial instruments (continued)

The estimated fair value of the fixed rate notes of €170.0 mitlion and floating rate notes of €404.,1 million included abave in
long term debt, have not been adjusted to fair value of €513.3 million as at 31 December, 2004 (2008: €309.0 million) &5 our
aceounting policy is to carry debt at amortised cost.

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments;

Caxh, short term deposits, accounts receivable, aceornts payable and short terin borrowings: The carrying amount reported
ins the balance sheet approximates fair value reflecting the nearby maturity of these instruments.

Long terin debt and shareholders ' loans (including irerest duej: The carrying amount reported in the batance sheet is
approxinately the falr value of the instruments from the Group’s perspective. The fair value of the floating rate notes and
fixed rate notes described above are the quoted market value at 31 December, 2009,

Derivative financial liabilities: The fair values of derivative instruments are caleulated using discounted cash flow analysis
which is performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and
eption pricing modets for eplional derivatives. Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward
exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracis. Interest rate swaps are
mcasured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable vield curves derived from
quoted interest rates.

Effective 1 January, 2009, the Group adepted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the
balance sheet at fair value, The amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by three different levels according
{o the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

¢« Level I; Quoted prices (unadjusied) in active markets for identical assets or Habilities,

¢« Level 2! Inputs other than gquoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices).

s Level 3; Inputs for the asset or Hability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

Only derivative financial liabilities of €6.1 million (2008: €5.7 million) are measured subsequent 1o initial recognition at fair
value. These are categorised as Level 2 items, reflecting the above fair value measurement hierarchy.

No other valuation techniques are used to measure these instruments.
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NOTES TG THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. Deferred fax

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for nancial reporting purposes:

31 December,

31 December,

2009 2008
€000 €600
Deferred tax HABTHEES, 1o coiirieioircin s neevioesrmasimrens e srss st b s s s seans 24,484 21,631
DI0TRITCO LRX BEECIS.coire it er e s e erssrae b o srabs s st b s bt b ars st a bbb s (20,684) {11,803)
3,800 G828
Accelerated Other
tax Property temporary
depreciation uplifis ~ Tax losses  differences Total
€000 €004 €000 €000 €pon
AT January, 2008, ..o e 8,062 10,278 (8,02%) 3,322 13,634
Exchange MOovement. .o e e (502) 133 - 30 (311
Dieferred tax charge (credit) to income statement........ (1,011 259 (3,775 371 (4,156)
Deferred tax charge 1o equily. o - - - {2,228} (2,228)
Acquisition of subsidiares.....cccoomnnn 2,895 - - - 2,895
A Dlanmuary, 2009 e 9,444 10,672 {(11,803) 1,515 9,828
Exchange movement.... ... oo (3th (54) - 454 289
Deferred tax charge (eredit) to income statement. ... (4494) (1,491) (B.88D) 4,691 (6,175}
Deferred tax eredit 10 €QUILY. oo - - - (102) (102)
Transfer (0 COrporation X ... . - - {40 {40
AL 31 December, 2009 ..veoreeesees e seene e _ 8839 9,127 (20,684 6,518 3,800

31 December, 31 December,

2004 2008
€000 €004

The deferred tax provision consists of the following amounts:
Accelerated tax depreciation. ... s 8,839 0,444
Property BPITES. oot b an s 9,127 10,672
TBY JOSEES 1etrereceescest oo comaeetes cveves b eesssesbcntess re s etesratsnbebevonreasrerrnsens (20,684 {11,803)
Other temporary differences, . 6,518 1515
3,800 9,828

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax losses of €87.3 million (2008: £49.3 million) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of €7(.8 mitlion worth of these fosses (2008: €46.3 milton)
as it is expected that there will be sufficient profits available in future years to utilise these losses. Taking into account current
expected profitability and interest charges, we anticipate that ail tax losses carried forward will be folly utilised by 2019,

The remaining unused tax losses of €16.7 mitlion (2008: €3.0 million) are not recognised as deferred tax assets because their

utilisation is restricted.
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19, Share capital, share premium and
capital contribution

Preferred
ordinary Share Capital
shares  premium  contribution Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Authorised number of shares (€0.01 each)
A1 31 December, 2008 and 2009, 10,000 - - 10,000
Nuntber of allotted called up and fally paid share
capital
At T Jamaary, 200, 2000 - - 2,000
Shares issued. . . - - - -
At 3] December, 2008 ... 1000 . - 2,000
SHALES ISTULL . .ovovves oo reves s casmrsan s vt e e s - - - -
At 31 Decomber, 2009 i 2,000 - - 2,000
€000 €000 €000 €000
Value in €000 at 31 December, 2009 20 3,678 3.425 7.123

The authorised share capital of the Company is €100,000 and consists of 10.0 million osdinary shares of €0.01 nominal value
each. The issued share capital of the Company is €20,000 and consists of 2.0 million issued ordinary shares of €0.0} nominal
value each. Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company carries one vote in a general meeting. All shares are held by
Clendalkin Group Holdings B.V.

2. Othier reserves

Currency
transtation  Hedging Actuarial .

reserve TeServe reserve Total
€000 E0B0 €000 €000
At 1 January, 2008... (15,670 - (773) (16,4435)
Curfeney Fans At ON oo oot (9,440 - (9,440)
Maovement in cash fow Hedges. oo e “ {(5.670) . (5.670)
Deferred tax credit on cash flow hedges..ooovciicnn - 1,446 - 1,446
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension plans......... . . (7.499) {7.499)
Dieferred tax credit on defined benefit pension plans....cocovin - - 782 782
AL 31 December, 2008 .o oo eese e seesaeneeer oo (25110 (4.504) (7.4977  (36,826)
Curteney ranstalion. .o e sy 1,304 - - 1,304
Movement in cash flow hedges. . - {558) - {556)
Deferred tax credit on cash flow Hedges. oo - 142 - 142
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans.......oocvvennn, - - 2,235 2,235
Deferred tax charge on defined benefit pension plans...o.von - - (40 {44}
At 31 Deceraber, 2009, .o, (23,8063 (4,638) (5,297 (33,741}
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20, Other reserves (confinued)

The currency translation reserve relates to exchange differences relating to the transiation of the net assets of the Group’s non
Euro denominated businesses from their functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency, being the Euro, which are
recognised directly in the staternent of recognised gains and losses. Gains and losses on hedging instruments that are
designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations are included in the foreign currency transtation reserve.
Exchange differences previously accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve, arsing in respect of translating both
the net assets of foreign operations and hedges of foreign operations, are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal or partial
disposal of the foreign operation.

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments that are deemed
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrament is reclassified to profit or loss
only when the hedged transaction affects the profit or foss, or is included as a basis adjustment 1o the non-financial

hedged item, consistent with the relevant accounting policy.

The actuarial reserve relates Lo the immediate recognition of all actuarial gains and logses outside of the consolidated income
statement in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense as permitted by the option available within International
Accounting Standard (JAS) 19: Employee Benefits.

21. Retained earnings

3 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€600 €000
At beginning of year.............. ettt b A b e e s 52,209 50,430
(Loss) / profit after taxation. ... e e (5,281 1,779
Atend of Year. ..o irncinins 46,928 82,209
22. Reconciliation of movement in equity
31 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€600 €000
AL DEZINNING OF YEA..corits et et s s rcnns 22,506 41,1068
Movement on currency ranslation FeSEIVE. ..o etenenie 1,304 {9,440y
Movement in cash flow hedges......ocvne, . (556} (5,670
Deferred tax credit on cash flow hedges... o 142 1,446
Actuarial gain / (Joss) on defined benefit pension plans....coennen s 2,235 (7,499
Deferred tax credit on defined benefit pensions........... {40y 782
(Loss) / profit retained for the Year. ... e (5,281) 1,779
AL BN OF YEOL. ot ras i s e st ab bbb bbbt 20,310 22,506
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23. Subsidiaries acquired

2009 Book value Fair value Fair value
Aequired adjustments Acquired
€000 €000 €000
Property, plant and equipmient............. . 2,944 . 2944
TIVBILOREES .. oeereeiie e sees i et s st e se s s s ve s seess et srr e 1,733 - 1,733
RECEVADEES .ottt corra s 1,583 - 1,553
Payables and accruals.. e (2,787 . (503) (3,290)
3,443 (503} 2,940
Goodwill. 3409
8,349
Satisfied by:
Consideration and expenses paid on 2009 acquisitions, 7957
Expenses dug on 2009 aC0uISITIONS . . oo st v vas s van s ra s v ese e st et e 3
8,349
Consideration and expenses paid on 2009 acquisitions.. . 7,957
Deferred consideration paid during the YOOI .oonie i s s ssisrcas s s ses s ssvms vessesvssasssseves 1,447
Total paid in respect of subsidiaries acquired... i 9,404

Effective | July, 2009, the Group acquired the business of Cleveland Plastic Films (“Cleveland™), Cleveland, based in Ohio,
United States of America, manufaetures customised flexible packaging fitms for industrial applications. The acquisition
consideration before expenses 10 sequire Cleveland on a debt free basis was €3.7 million. Cleveland’s business complements
our existing North American plastics packaging businesses,

Effective 1] December, 2009, the Group acquired the business of Lehigh Press (“Lehigh™), based in Puerto Rico, for the

consideration before expenses of €3.7 million. Lehigh manufactures labels, inserts, outserts and other packaging products,
mainty for the pharmaceutical market. This acquisition complements aur existing pharmaceutical packaging businesses in
Puerto Rico and North Amertca.

The resuits of these businesses are included in the financial statements from their effective acquisition dates.

The above acquisitions contributed €4.2 million reverue and €0.1 million to the Group’s profit from operations for the periods
between their acquisition dates and 31 December, 2009,

If these acquisitions had been completed on | January, 2009, total revenue for the period ending 31 December, 2008 would
have been £807.4 million and total profit from operations would have been €47.5 miltion,

The goodwill arising on the acguisitions is mainly attributable 1o the expected synergics, revenue growthi and future market
develepment of the businesses.

The customer lists and customer relationships were also acquired as part of the scquigitions. These assets are not recognised as
the value that can be attached to them is immaterial.
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23, Subsidiaries acquired (continued)

TS (CONTINUED)

2008 Book value Fair value Fair value
acquired adjustments acguired
€000 €000 €000
Property, plant and equipment........ 8,209 - 8,209
Inventories... 4,175 (636) 3,339
Receivables.... i e s s 4,13} - 4,131
COrPOration X oo eeeerecere ey eresseaes e csses s een 246 - 246
Payables and aceruals......... {4,556) (314) {4,875
DIFerrTed A% oo e e (850) (2,045) {2,895}
11,355 (2,995) 8,360
BOOBWITL et s eeeraee e eris s e mcee etk ea e b am s e ne e s eeh 3 400 14 s 42100 825501006 ek r b6 R0 o 2 S a i r 20,254
28,614

Satigfied by:
Consideration and expenses paid........ e bR R R8s R YRR e 08 Ch et e n et 28,614
Deferred consideration paid during fhe Year.. ..o it it e e e 1,021
Total patd in respeet of subsidiaries ACGUITEH. ... i ittt ar s 29,635

On § January, 2008, the Group acquired 100% of Accutech Films, Inc. (“Accutech Films™). Accutech Films is located in Ohio
in the United States and is a leading producer of customised flexible packaging films for the industrial, agricultural and food
and beverage markets. The acquisition consideration, before expenses, to acquire the businesses on a debt free basis was $36.0
million. The acquisition was funded from our cash resources. This acquisition complements our existing plastic packaging
business in North America,

On 17 March, 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the business of sthoorn, based in The Netherlands, for the consideration of
€3. 1million. Olsthoorn is a supplier to the Dutch horticultural market.

The results of Accutech Films and Qlsthoorn are included in these financial statements since 1 January, 2008 and 17 March,
2008 respectively.

The abeve acquisiions contribited €40.1 million revenue and €2.2 million to the Group's profit from operations for the
periods between their scquisition dates and 31 December, 2008.

If these acquisitions had been completed on 1 January, 2008, total revenue for the period ending 31 December, 2008 would
have been €879.8 millon and total profit from operations would have been €61.0 miltion,

The goodwill arising on the acquisitions is raainly attributable to the expected synergies, revenue growth and future market
development of the businesses.

The customer lists and customer relationships were also acquired as part of the acquisitions. These assets are not recognised as
the value that can be attachad to them is immaterial,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. Tncrease in net debt

31 December, 31 December,
2009 2008
€000 €000
TACIZASE 111 CASEL 1 cvive s e raeci e vee et er s st a b se s sen s vae e sannr s vereens 15,709 2,727
Decrease / (increase) in loans due within ong year ... vvsic v 9,321 {9.321)
25,030 {6,594}
Currency translation movement., 4,011 (7,333)
Decrease / (Borease) i nel debh. i s e s 20,041 (13.927)
25, Analysis of changes in net debt
31 December, Cash Exchange 31 December,
2009 flow Movements 2008
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cash balances and call deposits.....cocovevnnnen 111,984 15,709 353 95,927
Bank debt due within one year.....oe e - $.,32] - 9,321)
FlOANE 7118 AOIES .. coermeraereeenrececerensernearansesnes (404,123) - 3,659 (407,782)
FIxed Fate noteS. .o se e s s s snen s (170,000) - - (170,000)
Net deblo e (462,134) 25,030 4,012 (491,176)

26. Capital expenditure commitments

At the year end, the following capital expenditure commitments had been authorised to proceed, but not provided for in the
finaneial statements as the obligations are not yet incurred:

31 December, 31 December,

2009 2008

€060 €000

CONLTACTEL TOT.. ..o e e setees e e ecs s ssens st nmsentsn sreesseas semsareenernenacees 4,469 5,415
TNOE COBTFACTEA TOI. oottt ettt s st st ems st e rmarare s 2,762 1,748

7,163

ottt i




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. Leasing commitments

At the vear-end, the Group had total conunitments under non-cancellable operating leases with lease ferms between one and
ten years, In respect of certain leases, the Group has the option to extend the lease period at market rates. During the year
ended 31 December, 2009 an amount of €7.1 miilion (Z008: €7.3 miliion) was recognised as an expense in respect of leasing

charges in the income statement, The feases expire as follows:

31 Becember,

2009

Premises

€'000

Within One Year..omeeineernns 128
D2 10 TIVE YA vaatveervvrarrersrasrinsissmreseverssnesmaessnrsasasseens resssessss soasssarasstssacs 7.114
Over fiVe YOS SV 15,126

18,368

Equipmest

€'oon
WHREN D118 FEAL ..ottt v ee ettt en et sy ra e eaenn 203
One to five years......coevvens 5,073
OVET {IVE FRATS. coreccrerorenesrnnrecrirarire s es e s e e ams ah s st s 3
5,279

28, Fiseal entity

31 December,
2048
Premises

956
3,550
13,303
17,811

Equipment
€000
696
5,252
1,944
7,802

Together with Clendalkin Group Holdings B.V., the Company forms a tax entity with most of the Dutch subsidiary
companies in respect to corporation tax, and for this reason it is joinily and severally lable for the tax liabifities of the fiscal

unity.

29, Controfling parties

Cilondalkin Group Holdings B.V. is the ultimate holding company of the group of companies of which it is a member. The
majority shareholder in Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V. is WP Flexpack Holdings S.a.r.], who controls 85.2% of the issucd

ordinary share capital (equivalent to 79.2% on a fully dituted basis).

36. Related Party Transactions

The principal related party relationships requiring disclosure under 1AS 24: Related Party Disclosures relate to the existence of
subsidiaries and transactions between these entities, and transactions with sharcholders primarily being the interest charge on
loans provided to the Company by the sharcholders. The compensation of key managenent personnel is addressed in note 7.

Transactions with subsidiaries

The consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as set out in the
basis of consolidation in the accounting policies note. A listing of the principal subsidiaries is provided on page 62 of this
Annuai Report. Sales to and purchases from subsidiaries, together with outstanding payables and recetvables to and from
subsidiaries are climinated in the preparation of the consolidated financial information in accordance with 1AS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

Transactions with shareholders

To part finance the acquisition, Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V., the Company’s parent, raised €180 million of finance
comprising sharcholder loans of €149.3 million, options and rights over shares and loan notes in the predecessor Clondalkin
Group Holdings Limited were exchanged for options and rights over shares and loan notes in Clondatkin Group Heldings B.V.
to the value of €9.6 million and share capital of €21,1 million, An additional €2.8 million in shares and Joan notes were issued to
management investors between 28 February 2004 and December 31 2009, including €0.5 million i 2007, mainly being the

exercise of management options over sharcholders” loans.
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30, Related Party Transactions (continued)

The sharchoiders’ loans referred to above, which mature in 2015, are subordinated to the prior rights of the floating rate notes,
revolving credit facility and the fixed rate notes and do not qualify for repayment until the floating rate notes and revalving
credit facitity are repaid and while the fixed rate notes are unpaid, certain significant restrictions on repayment arc also
applied. Interest accrues on the sharcholders’™ loans at the rate of 7.57% per year payabie in June, and December, each vear,
but until maturity, the payable interest is capitalised except that 1.5% interest per annunt may be payable in cash, subject to
the terms of floating rate note borrowings, the revolving credit borrowing facilities and the fixed rate notes.

Clondaikin Group Holdings B.V. has granted a sharcholder’s loan to the Company of €175.0 million (2008: €175.1 million)
on approximately the same terms and conditions as above. The interest charge in 2008 was €17.8 million (2008: €16.5
million} bringing to €86.7 million (2008: £68.9 million} the total interest antount due 1o sharcholders, Further details in
respect of these amounts are disclosed in note 16,

31. Retirement benefit obligations

The Group companies contribute to pension benefit arrangements operated in accordance with the local conditions and
practices in the jurisdictions in which the companics operate. Fhese arrangements are administered in funded pension plans
held separately from, and managed independently of, the participating companies,

The most common type of pension plan operated by the participating companies is the defined contribution type of plan. In
these plans, the employer obfigation is to pay agreed annual contributions. In addition, certain subsidiaries based in the
Netherlands, in accordasice with common practice in that country, contribute to defined benefit plans operated as part of
broadiy based industry plans, In these industry plans, there is no practical way to separate the pension benefit affairs of the
operating companies’ beneficiaries from the general membership of these plans. These industry plans therefore reflect features
more normal to defined contribution plans than defined benefit plans, The annual contributions, expressed as a percentage of
salary, both (o the defined contribution plans and the industry plans have not varied significantly in recent years. The charge
for the year ended 31 December, 2009 in respect of the defined contribution plans was €4.1 million (2008: €6.4 miliion) and
the contributions due / prepaid at 31 December, 2009 and 2008 were not material,

Defined benefit type plans are also operated. In these plans, the employer obligation is to provide benefifs linked to
employees’ service years, Annual contributions to these plans are based on advice from independent professional actuaries.
Actuarial valuations have been carried out on all these plans within the last three years, generally using the Projected Unit
Credit Method to determine pension contributions. These valuations are reviewed and updated on an annual basis, Qualified
independent actuaries perform the actuarial valualions.

The charge / (credit) for the year ended 31 December, 2009 in respect of these defined benefit plans was €2.3 miliion (2008;
(€0.02) million} and there were no material contributions due /7 prepaid at 31 December, 2009 and 2008.

The market value and expected long term rate of returns on the main assets held by the pension plans determined in
conjunction with the Group's actuaries at 31 December, 2009 and 2008, compared to the liability position at that date, were as
follows:

Expected Expected
Long term Market value af Long term  Markef valoe at
rate of 31 December, rate of 31 December,
retorn 2009 2009 return 2008 2008
Percent €000 Percent €000
6.50 21,264 6.61 25,497
Fixed income and indexed linked investmenis............. 1. 43,134 3.068 42,257
PrOPRITIES. oot et e ceraranrese st et an s 4.39 15,007 5.27 15,157
Cash and Other i 3.20 10,871 6.13 4,339
Total assefs............ 90,276 87,250
Present value of plan Habilittes. ..o v (98,169 (96,684}
Dreficit of asscts over present value of Habillties.o i (7,893) (9.434)
SUPIUS TEEIEICHOM (11 evtesemcssnssssessrnrmsrasisssnsssssssesssassasssmsssasessmessinrsnss sers (4,288 (3.092)
Net deficit after FESITCH O i e s (12,181) . {14,520)

The surplus restriction relates to pension assets which are not recognised as it is undikely that a vefund or reduction in the
pension contribution rate will be available to the participating companies.

The range of assumptions of the parficipating pension plans, used by the actuary in presenting the above summary details were:
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. Retirement benefif obligations (continued)

31 PBecember, 31 December,

2609 2008

Rage of INCreases 1 BALAFIES. ... e vt et e erae 1% - 3% i% - 3.3%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment............ 0% - 2% 0% - 2%
I ISTOUNT FALS. 1ot oo cvisie e reire s aisse b sars e e st a1 et ead £ 008 et et S4 0t b8 s msb e £ bt b e e emern 3.5% - 6% 3.5% - 6.25%
INATA1300 ASSUINPEIONS. .ot e s e ieer e e cenes bt b imn et eser s e s e 1% - 3% 1% - 3%

The life expectancy of a member retiring at 31 December, at age 65, which has been shown in range format to reflect the
differing assumptions in cach plan, is as follows:

31 December, 31 Becember,

2009 2008

Years Yoars

IV B8 ettt ettt et ettt et ven st et e ee et ettt eae st et aee e vantaer 17.9-19.8 17.9-19.8

The mortality assumptions used are based on advice from the pension plans” actuaries and reflect each plan’s population. There
are inherent uncertainties surrounding the financial and dermographic assumptions adepted by the Group. The impact of
increasing the expected longevity for pension members by one year wounld result in an increase in the balance sheet liability of
€2.6 million fogether with an increase in the charge to the income statement of €0,2 million,

The expecied rate of returns for cach of the categories of plan assets are assessed based on current market long term expectations
for such rates and based upon the input from investment advisors, The rates of return on equities and property are based on
current long term government bond yields (approximate risk free rates) plus an appropriate risk premium. The long term rates of
return on bond and cash investiments are based upon market yields available at the balance sheet date, The overall expected rate
of return for each plan is cafeulated by weighting the expected refurn on each asset category by the anticipated balance in that
asset category during the year in aceordance with the plans’ investment strategy.

The assumption for the rate of increase in salaries reflects the general rate of price inflation and historical experience.

As an indication of the impact of changes in actuarial assumptions, an increase of 0.5% to the discount rates would reduce the

annual pension plans’ Habilities by approximately 8%. A 1% increase in the expected return on assets would result in a reduction
to the charge in the income statement of €1.5 million. A 1% decrease would have the opposite effect.

Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 Pecember, 31 December,

2009 26808

€000 €600

TN SRIVICE COBLtititaaitiiuivsvereessssavssi v sssae it sssss e b e be 824 st sb b veaeb a0 £4 Shesenbanbacrd 2,369 3,072
LELEEIEEE COSEe . ctiiiirireectiies i e vt cer e st emtssste s e vmsemrsss s ot s ess st ssem e et ertemsesne vecas e reeeas e rn 4,457 4,379
Expected return on plan assets....o... {4,548) {5.623)
Settlement gl e et et e - (1.852)
2,278 (24}

Of the charge / (credif) for the year, €1.2 million (2008: €1.0 million} has been included in cost of sales, €0.4 million (2008:
€0.3 miltion) included in distribution costs and €0.7 mitlion (2008: (€1.3} millien) included in administration expenses,
Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the stafement of recognised income and expense.

The actual gain on plan asseis in the year ended 31 December, 2009 was €4.9 million (2008 €19.4 million loss).
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM

31, Retirement benefit obligations {(continued)

Reconciliation of actuarial value of liabilifies

TS (CONTINUED)

31 December,
2009

31 December,
2008

Opening defined benefit obligation..............

Foreign exchange GHITENCas. . o st oot senes
CUTFEITE SEIVIEE COSEeturitt it e v i s bbb e e b se s a st b et e v s e rm b s s b e raser s
SRIUGMISNL ZBIN.0eirivrisvie et sr st v vess et e ssaar sras s vessvasansbassebsa bbb voas
Actuarial gaiN ..
Transfer of IabilHIES. oo .
Benefits paid ..o e e e e

€00
96,684

(679)

2,369

4,457
(717)

(3,945)

€000

95,054
3.932
3,072

(1.852)
4,379

(7.158)
2,352

(3,095)

Closing defined benefit obligation. ...

98,169

96,684

Changes in fair valoe of plan assels

31 December,
2009

31 December,
2008

Opening fair value of plan 855815, i vsr s ers s onn e nccns e cevin s
Foreign exchange differences.....ocoo i
Expected retuih . .o
Employer CONMIBULIONS. c.vo.rvr i riirs s srssrcersinrs s e snss s sas st sssas vessnssnons
Benefits paid...
Actuarial gain / {losg)........ reerrencasereeecneas

€000

87,250
(414)
4,548
2,486
(3,945)
351

€08

107,052
4,287
5,623

376
(3,095)
(26,993)

Closing fair valtue of plan 58018, oo as e scesss e eems s e

90,276

87,250

Anticipated employer contributions payable to defined benefit pension plans in the 2010 financial year amount to €2.6 miilion

(2009 €3.0 milion).

The experience gains and losses in the years ended 31 Deceraber, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

31 December,
2009

31 December,
2008

Surplus / (deficit) over expected return on plan assets..
Surplus / (deficin} expressed as a percentage of plan assefs.......oovonn i
Experience gain on pension plan liabilities...ooviiicinna
Gain express sed as percentage of plan liabilities. ..
(Loss) / gain from changes in the assumptions z,.,.a 8 value _mmgwsmm ................
(Loss) / gain expressed as percentage of plan liabilities..................

€600
2,602
2.9%
333
0.3%
{700)
0.7%

€000

(14,755)

13.5%

45

0.1%
4,21

4.4%

Total actaarial gain / (J088).ccoeicrcrnrarons

2,235

(7,499)

Total actuarial gain /7 (loss) expressed as percemtage of plan licbilities...........
Cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in the consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense..............

2.3%

(6,351)

7.8%

(8,586)

History of plan assets, lisbilities and actuarial gains and losses

2009 2088

31 December,

2007

20006

2005

€000
90,276
(98.169)

€000
87,230
(96,684)

Bid value of assets............
Actuarial value of liabilities

€000
107,052
(95,0543

€000
145,924
{125,965)

€000
141,811
(142,653}

(DefIcH) / SUTPIIS oot e es s e
Surplus pestrietion ... oo s

(7,893)
(4,288)

(9.434)
(3,002)

11,998
(16,167}

19,959
{21,996)

(847)
(6,074)

Net deficit afler restriction. ..o v cee e {12,181 €14,526)

(4,169}

{2,037)

(6,916}

(Deficit) / actual return less expected
TSR 0N PIAN AS5CEE o vivee et ens e
%% 0F PIAN B58215. v e e e

(11,755)
(13.5%)

(1,183}
{1.1%)

(1,158)

5,998

(0.8%) 42°

45
0.1%

Experience gain / (oss) arising on plat..o....
% of plan Habitities.....

{1,298)
{1.4%)

0 2,24
6%

C}
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
COMPANY INCOME STATEM

For the year ended 31 December, 2009

Notes
AGMINISITAtIVE EXPENIES. .ot ioiiiiiviirs v st sceessreeeemeecron o
Finanee income............ vreias e h e h e e r e et e 3
FIRANEE COBIS..coie it s it e cemssssian e st bbb e 3
Profit before taxation..
Income tax expense
Profit after tanation... ... e st 7

COMPANY STATEMENT GF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 Deeember, 2009

Profit afier taxation................

Total recognised income Tor the financial year...ccov e

The Notes on pages 33 10 61 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended
31 December,

Year ended
31 December,

2009 2008
€000 €000
(137) (45}

31,673 30,347
(31,460) (30,128)

76 174
(19 (44)

57 130

Year ended
31 December,

Year ended
31 December,

2009 2008
€000 (AU
57 130
57 130
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
{after proposed apprepriation of profif)

As at 31 December, 2009

Non-cutrent assets
[rvestments in subSIAIAIIES . oo e
Trade and other recetvables. i e e

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents.............. e

Total assets...

Equity
Catled up share eapital....cv oo e,
Share Premiun 000U i et ecam s seass s sieesssors
Capital contribution.........

TOTAL SOUTLY v ovis ittt savs s sabs s av s s s bbb bbb s e es

Non-current Habilities

Fixed rate notes.. R
Amounts due 0 Sharcholders. ..o
Interest due on shareholders” loans

Current liabilities

Payables - amounts falling due within one year,

Total Habiltes. oo e e saeensrene et s s s

Total equity and Habilities.........ooo i

The Notes on pages 53 to 61 forns part of these financial statements.
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31 December,
2009

31 December,
2008

€'000

343,060
133,190

€008

343,060
115,267

476,250

438,337

476,253

458,334

20
3.678
3,425

488

20
3.678
3,425

43}

7,611

176,600
252,938
3,967

7,554

170,000
235,241
3,967

426,903

41,737

409,208

41,572

468,042

450,780

476,253

458,334




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the yesr ended 31 December, 2009

Ordinary
shares

Retained
earnings

Total

At 1 January, 2008....... s TR TN

Profit retIned., oo vvanerresiiscas e s rmresarems sernssrnaaesssnesnssessssnsenes

€000

€000

301

130

€600

AL 31 December, 2008, e snsrrnans s s

Profil teIAIBEd ..o e i s ess st s st var bbbt s ot

431

57

AL 31 December, 2009000 s s

488

7,611

The Notes on pages 53 to 61 form part of these financial statements.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the vear ended 31 December, 2009

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation...... s

FHIANEE COBES.crces vcvmvevrconricemrinerneie s serescsemmennn s seces e ansasesessesensaernssessesrars
Increase in pavables ...

Net cash used in operating activities. ... e

Net decrease in cash and cash QUEVAIEHIS. .o
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year, .o,
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year... ..o

The Notes on pages 53 1o 61 form part of these financial statements,

Year ended
31 December,
€040

76

(4

Year ended
31 December,

174

(219}
Kh

(10}

(19)
17




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Clondalkin Industries B.V., ("the Company™) which has its address and statutory seat at Raadhuisstraat 15, 1016 DB,
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, is & holding company of the Group. Clondatkin Group Holdings B.V. is the parent company
of the Company . The Company was incorperated on 12 January, 2004 and is the parent company of Clondalkin
Acquisition B.V., These three companies, all Dutch incorporated, were formed to facilitate Clondalkin Acquisition B.V.’s

acquisition of all the shares in Clondalkin Group Helding Limited. The acquisition of Clendalkin Group Holdings Limited
was completed effective 28 February, 2004 and is results have been consolidated from that date,

After making enguiries, the Executive Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeabie future, For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.

1. Accounting policies

General

These financial statemients are prepared in accordance with the Netherlands Civii Code, Book 2, Title 9, with the application
of the regulations of section 362.8 alHowing the use of the same accounting policies as applied for the conselidated financial
staternents. These accounting policies are described in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency has been translated, assets and liabilities have been valued and net income has been determined in
sccordance with the prineiples of valuation and determination of income provided therein. The financial statements are
prepared under the historic cost convention as modified by the periodic revaluation of cerfain tangible assets and financial
instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out betow.

Taxation

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reporied in the income
statemnent because it excludes ifems of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in different pericds and further
excludes ttems that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's Hability for cwrrent tax is calculated using rates that have
been enacted or effectively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costy

Borrowing cosis on sharcholder loans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Investments in subsidiary companies

The Company’s investment in subsidiary companies is stated at cost value less any accumulated impairment.

Financial instraments

Financial assets and financial liabilities ane recognised on the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade recefvables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their fair value as reduced by allowances for estimated non-
recoverable amounts,

Shareholder loans

Sharehoider loans are secognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subscquent {o initial

recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised costs using the effective interest method,
Trade payabiles

Trade payabics are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value.

Equity instrimenis

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs,
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Related Party Transactions

The principal related party relationships requiring disclosure under IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures pertain to the existence of
subsidiaries and transactions with these entities and transactions with shareholders primarily being the interest charge on loans
provided to the company by sharcholders.

Transactions with subsidiaries

I the year ended 31 December, 2009, interest of €315 million {2007 €340.3 million) was charged on joans granted Lo its
immediate subsidiary Clondalkin Acquisiion 8.V, The ameunt due 1o the Company from Clondalkin Acquisition V. ol 31
munno_wvmﬁmcmfwmwwwm_dmzmaiucam“m:m.wEz:m_:.

Transactions with shareholders

To part finance the acquisition, Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V., the Company’s parent, raised €180 million of finance
comprising sharcholder loans of €149.3 million, options and rights over shares and foan notes in the predecessor Clondalkin
Group Heldings Limited were exchanged for options and rights over shares ard loan notes in Clondatkin Group Heldings B.V.
to the value of €9.6 miflion and share capital of €21.1 miltion. An additional €2.8 millios in shares and loan notes were issued to
management investors between 28 February 2004 and December 31 2009, inchuding €0.5 million in 2007, mainiy being the
exercise of management options over shareholders’ loans.

The sharcholders’ loans as referred to above, which mature in 2015, are subordinated to the prior rights of the floating rate notes,
revoiving credit facility and the fixed rate notes and do not qualify for repayment until the floating rate notes and revolving
credit facility are repaid and while the fixed rate notes are unpaid, certain significant restrictions on repayment are also applied,
Interest accrucs on the shareholders” loans at the rate of 7.57% per vear payable in June, and December, cach year, but until
maturity, the payable interest is capitalised except that 1.5% interest per annum may be payable in cash, subject to the terms of
floating rate note barrowings, the revolving credit borrowing facilities and the fixed rate notes.

Clondalkin Group Holdings B.V. has granted 2 sharcholder™s Toan to the Company of €175.0 million {2008: €175.1 million) on
approximately the same terms and conditions as above. The interest charge in 2008 was €17.9 millios (2008: €16.5 million}
bringing to €87.2 million (2008: €69.3 million) the total interest amount due to shareholders, Further details in respect of these
amounts are disclosed in note 17,

4. Financial Instruments

Interest rate and eurvency profile

The interest rate and currency profile of the Company's principal financial instruments, including short term receivables and
payables, all of which are Eura denominated at 31 December, 2009 and 31 December, 2008 was as follows:

31 December, 31 December,

2009 2008
Fixed rate debt €000 €000
Amounts due fo shareholders.............. . 252,938 235241
Weighted average fixed debt Ierest rates. .o i ismes i 7.693% 7.695%
Weighted average fixed debt period... o v s 5.2 years 6.2 years
Fixed rate notes 170,000 170,000
Weighted average fixed debt inerest Fafes ... 8% 8%
Weighted average fixed debt period... i oo 4.2 vears 5.2 years
Bank and cash balances ~ floating rates. .o e 4 7
Trade and other receivables. o o s 133,190 115,267
Trade payables and accruals. ..o, 41,737 41,572

The principal financial instruments used to find the company comprise shareholders” loans, cash and receivables, from
subsidiaries. The Company does not trade in financial instruments,

.54 .
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Financial Instruments (continued)

Capital risk management

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises debt
which includes the sharcholder loans disclosed in note 16 of the consolidated financial statements, cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising capital, reserves and retained earmnings as disclosed in the
following notes 6 and 7 respectively. The Executive Directors review the capital structure on an ongoing basis. As part of this
review, the costs of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital are considered.

The Executive Directors are satisfied that the current capital structure is appropriate and will enable the Company to continue as
a going concern for the foreseeable future.

Financial risk management objectives

The Executive Directors along with the Group Corporate Treasury function monitor the financial risks relating to the Company
on an ongoeing basis. These risks include market risk {including currency tisk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk, The Company seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these
risks if required. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies which provide wriiten principles on the
various forms of risk management. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal audit function. The
Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk

The Company does not trade and its main source of income relates to foans provided to subsidiary companies and interest
charged on these loans, Therefore, the Company does not have any market risk,

Foreign currency risk management
The Company has no foreign cusrency risk as it deals exclusively in Euro.
Interest rate risk management

The Company pays a fixed interest charge of 8% on its fixed rate notes and receives a fixed interest charge of 8.125% on loans
granted to subsidiaries. Therefore the company does not have any interest eate risk.

Price risk management
As the Company does net trade other than as described above, the Company does not have any price risk.
Credit risk management

Credit risk refers fo the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual ebligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Company. The Company deals almost exclusively with its immediate subsidiary company, Clondalkin Acquisition BV. As both
companies are under common control, eredit risk is Himited. The credit risk on fiquid funds is fimited because the counterparties
we deal with are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies,

OO 5 - Q000



CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Financial instruments (continued)

Liguidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for Hquidity risk management rests with the Executive Directors to ensure there is an appropriate risk
management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements, Ligquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate basking facilities and callable borrowing facilities, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and by matching the maturity profiles of financial asscts and liabilities.

Liquidity tables

The following table indicates the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities” expected settlement raturity profile at their
undiscounted principal cash flow values and ailocated fo the repayment periods based upon the carliest dates the liabilities can

be called for settlement, inclusive of any applicable interest and settlement amounts. The liabilities included represent the

Company’s total non-current liabilities and current liabilities.

2009 Loss One to Three One Over
than one three months {o 1o five five
month monihs one year years years Total
€000 €'o00 €000 €000 €000 €000
Mon-interest bearing instruments..... - - 41,737 - “ 41,737
Interest bearing instraments............. - . 170,000 256,905 426,905
. “ 41,737 170,000 256,905 468,642
2008 Less One Three One Over
than one to three months to {o five five
mionth months one year Years years Fotal
€000 €000 €000 €000 €600 €000
Non-interest bearing instruments..... - - 41,572 - - 41,872
Interest bearing instruments............. - - - 409,208 409,208

- . - - 409,208 450,780

The following table indicates the Company’s non-derivative financial assets” expected settlement maturity profile at their
undiscounted principal cash flow values and allocated 1o the expected settlement period,

i.ess than 12 Over

monthy 5 vears Total
2009 €600 €non €000
MNON-INErEst DEATING. oo vcee e ve s e - - .
Interest bearing MSTUMENIS. ..ovvovercreernreennn RO - 133,190 133,190
- 133,190 133,140

2008
Non-interest bearing....... . - - -
Interest bearing INSUUMENES. ..o - 115,267 115,267
- 115,267 115,267

(o-os- 0l AP



CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED}

4. Financial instramenis {continued)

Fair value of finsncial assets and labilities

The book vatues and fair values of the financial assets and financial liabiliies were:

31 December, 2009

31 Decembey, 2008

Assels
Receivables due after one year ..o
Bank and cash balances.....

Liabilities

Payables - amounts falling due within one year.........
Interest due on fxed rate NOTES s
Fixed rate notes.,..
Shareholders’ Toans. .o

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount  Fair Value
€080 €900 £'060 [ HH
133,150 133,190 115,267 113,267
4 4 7 7

41,737 41,737 41,572 41,372
3,967 3,967 3,967 3,967
170,000 170,000 170,000 170,000
252,938 252,938 235,241 235,241

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments;

Cash, short term deposits, accounts receivable and accounts pavable: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet
approximates fair value reflecting the short maturity of these instruments. No other valuation technigues are used to measure

these instruments,

Fixed rate notes and Shaveholders ™ loans (including inferest due): The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet is

approximately fair value, at 31 December, 2609,

5. Share eapital, share premium and
capital contribution

Authorised number of shares (€0.01 each)
At 31 December, 2008 and 2009...

Number of aliotted called up and fully paid
share capital (in thousands)

At 1 Januoary, 2008. .
15502 OF ShATES...c oo e
AL 31 Drecomber, 2008, e
I551e OF Shares. ..o
At 31 December, 2009,
Value in €'000 at 31 December, 2009, .. iienn,

Ordinary Share Capital
shares  Premium  contribution Total
10,600 - - 14,600
2,000 - - 2,000
2,000 - - 2,600
2,000 - - 2,000
20 3.678 2425 7,123

The auvthorised share capital of the Company is €1 00,000 and consists of 10.0 million ordinary shares of €0.01 nominal value each.
The sssued share capital of the Company is €20,000 and consists of 2.0 million issued ordinary shares of €0.01 nominat value each.

Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company carries one vote in a general meeting. All shares are held by Clondaikin Group

Holdings B.V..

up



CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V,

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANUCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. Retained Earnings

31 December,
2009

At Beginning of period. ..o e
NELPTOIIL vt st es et v e st e er bt n st er s

€060

431
57

31 December,
2008

Atend of period...c.oe.

488

€000

301
130

7. Reconciliation of movement in equity

31 December,

433

31 December,

At beginning of peried........... e b e et et

AL end 0F PETTOW. oot et

2009 2008
€000 €000
1,554 7424

57 130
7,611 7,554

The difference in equity and results between the consolidated financial statements and Company financial statements is due to

the results of investments, movement on cash flow hedges, actuarial movement on pensions and foreign currency translation

movements nol included in the Company financial statements.




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES BV,

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8. Principal subsidiaries as at 31 December, 2009

The Company directly owns 1004 of the issued share capital of Clondalkin Acgquisition B.V.. All other subsidiaries are 100% indircetly

owned, The principal subsidiaries are as foliow:

Name of company

Accutech Films Ine.

AP Burt & Sons Limited

Better Business Forms Inc.
Bideford Limited

Boxes (GH} Limited

Boxes LPF B.V.

Boxes (Prestige) Limited

Boxes Prestige sp Z.o.0,

Cahiil Printers Limited
Cartonplex S.A.

Cats Flexible Packaging B.V.
C.B. Packaging Limited

C.B. Packaging Limited
Chadwicks of Bury Limited
Clondaikin Acquisition B.V.
Clendaikin Industries B.V,
Clendaikin Group (UK) Limited
Clendaikin Holdings GmbH
Clendaikin Holdings S.A.
Clondalkin Industries Limited
Clondalkin International Finance
Direct Plastics Limited

Ditone Labels Limited
Bdgemead Limited

Flexoplast B.V.

Fortuse Plastics Inc.

Guy and Company (Distribution) Limited
Guysal Limited

Hansel Flexible Packaging GmbH
Harlands of Hutl Limited

Keller Crescent Inc.

Kenitworth Products Limited
Linde Vouwkartonnage BV,
LPF Flexible Packaging B.V.
Munster Paper Sacks Limited
Nimax B.V.

Nyco Flexible Packaging GmbH
Obelisk Investments Limited
Pharmagraphics Inc.
Pharmagraphies Guy Limited
Ritehie (UK) Limited

Spiralkote Inc.

Swifthrook Limited

The Old Cambridge Road Print Company Limited
US New Co Inc.

Vaassen Flexible Packaging B.V.
Van der Windt Packaging N.V.
Van der Windt Verpakking B.V.
Van der Windt (UK) Limited
Verpakkingsindusiric Velsen BV,
Wentus Kunststoff Gmbh
Wilkes-Cerdac Limited

Registered office in

Ohio, USA

Bristol, Britain

Florida, LISA

Dublin, refand

Bristol, Britain

Leeuwarden, The Netherlands
3ristol, Britnin

Lubhn, Poland

Dublin, Irefand

Barcelona, Spain

Rotterdam, The Netherlands
Dublin, Ireland

Bristol, Britain

Bristol, Britain

Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Bristol, Britain

Haxser, Germany

Barcelona, Spain

Dublin, Ireland

[ublin, Ireland

Ontario, Canada

Bristol, Britain

Dublin, Ireland
Wieringerwerf, The Netherlands
Connecticut, LUSA

Dublin, Ireland

Publin, Ireland

Freital, Germany

Bristol, Britain

Indiana, USA

Dublin, freland

Denekamyp, The Netherlands
Grootegast, The Netherlands
Dubli, lreland

£lst, The Netherlands
Kirchberg, Switzerland
Dublin, Ireland

MNorth Carolina, USA
Dublin, Ireland

Bristol, Britain

Florida, USA

Dublin, Ireland

Bristol, Brifain

Delaware, USA

Vaassen, The Netheriands
Hoogstraten, Belgium
Henselersdijk, The Netherlands
Bristol, Britain
Wieringerwerf, The Netherlands
Haxter, Germany

Prublin, Ireland

- 59 -

Nature of business
Packaging

Packaging

Printing

Investment Helding Company
Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Printing

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Investment Holding Company
Packaging

Printing

Investment Holding Company
Packaging

Packaging

Packaging Merchants
Printing

Packaging

Printing

Packaging

Printing

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Packaging

Investment Holding Company
Packaging

Printing

Printing

Packaging

Paper Merchants

Printing

Investment Holding Company
Packaging

Packaging Merchants
Packaging Merchants
Packaging Merchants
Packaging

Packaging

Printing

RIS & 74ec %MEM‘WMQ



CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. Guarantees

The Company, has given guarantees in respect its following Dutcls subsidiaries under the provisions of Section 403, Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code:

- Boxes LPF B.V. (Leeuwarden, The Netherlands)

- Cats Flexible Packaging B.V. (Rotterdam, The Netherlands)

- Clondalkin Acquisition B.V. (Amsterdam, The Netherlands)

- Clondalkir Group Investments B.V, {Amsterdam, The Netherlands)
- UNED§B.V. {Amsterdam, The Netherfands)

«  CNEDIIB.V. (Amsterdam, Fhe Netherlands)

- Flexoplast B.V. {Wieringerwerf, The Netherlands}

- Lecuwenhoek Holding BV, (Wieringerwerf, The Netherlands)

- Linde Vouwkartonnage 8.V, (Denckamp, The Netherlands)

- LPF Flexible Packaging B. V. (Grootegast, The Netherlands)

- Nimax B.V. (Elst, The Netherlands)

- Nimax Cnroerend Goed en Beheer B.V. (Blst, The Netherlands)

- Van der Windt Verpakkingen B.V, (Honselersdiik, The Netherlands)
- Vaassen Flexible Packaging B.V. (Vaassen, The Netherlands)

- Verpakkingsindustrie Velsen BV, {Wicringerwerf, The Netherlands)

The Company has given guarartees in respect its following Irish subsidiaries under the provision of Seetion 17 of the Irish
Companies Act 1986

- Bailey Gibson Limited (Dubiin, Ircland)

- Bideford Limited (Dublin, lreland}

< Cahill Printers Limited {Dublin, Ireland)

- OB, Packaging Limited (Dublin, Ireland}

-~ Guy and Company (Distribution) Limited (Dublin, Ireland)
- Guysal Limited (Dublin, Ireland)

- Foxfield Investments Limited (Dublin, Ireland)

- James Witkes {Irelond) Limited (Dublin, freland)
- Munster Paper Sacks Limited (Dublin, freland)

- Pharmagraphies Guy Limited (Dublis, Ireland)

- Swiftbrook Limited (Dublin, Ireland)

- Verdosa Limited (Dublin, freland)

- Wilkes-Cerdac Limited (Dublin, kreland)

- 60 -
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CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Boeard approval

The consolidated financial statements and the company finascial statements of Clondalkin Industries B.V. were approved by
the Executive Directors on 16 April, 2010 and will be put before the Shareholders for adoption at the Annual General Meeting
of Sharcholders.

Colman (" Neiil

Fim Farreli




CLONDALKIN INDUSTRIES B.V.
OTHER INFORMATION

1. Statutory rules concerning profit appropriation

Artiele 21, Profits

The allocation of profits carned in a financial year shall be determined by the General Meeting.

Distributions can only take place up to the amount of the distributable part of the net assets.

Distribution of profits shall take place after the fixing of the Annual Accounts from which it appears i is approved.

The General Meeting may. subject to due observance of the provision of the law, resolve to pay an interim dividend.

. The General Meeting may, subject to due observance of paragraph 2, resolve to make payments to the charge of any
reserve which nead not to be maintained by virtue of the law,

6. A claim of a sharcholder for payment of a dividend shall be barred after five vears have efapsed.

A el b —
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. Proposed profit appropriatien for the financial year 2009

The Executive Directors proposed that the profit for the financial year 2009 should be transferred to rescrves without payment
of dividends to shareholders, The financial statements presented herewith anticipate that the shareholders in general meeting
will approve this proposal.

3. Auditor’s report

The auditer’s report is set forth on the next page,
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To the Sharcholders of
Clondalkin Industries B.V.

Amsterdam
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May 10, 2010 3100042702/0P980/ahdr

Auditor’s report
Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2009 of

Clondalkin Industries B.V. Amsterdam , which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheet as at December 31, 2009, income statement, statement of recognised income and expense,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of the report of
the Executive Directors in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and {air presentation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances,

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

Deloitte Accotintants 8Y. Is reglsterad with the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry in Member of
Rotterdam number 24362853, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion,

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Clondalkin Industries B.V. Amsterdam as at December 31, 2009 and of its result and its cash
flow for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part f of the Netherlands Civil Code, we
report, to the extent of our competence, that the report of the Executive Directors is consistent
with the financial statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

already signed: R.ML.A. Zuiverloon



